
 

Kelso City Council Agenda 
Regular Meeting, 6:00 pm 

January 5, 2016 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

203 South Pacific 
Kelso, WA  98626 

 
 

                                **Special accommodations for the handicapped and hearing impaired are available 
 by special arrangement through the City Clerk’s Office at 360-423-0900** 

 
 
 
Invocation: 
 Pastor Mark Schmutz from Northlake Baptist Church 

 
 
Roll Call to Council Members: 

 
 
1. Approve Minutes: 

1.1. October 20, 2015 – Transportation Benefit District Special Meeting 
1.2. December 15, 2015 – Regular Meeting 

 
 

2. Oath of Office: 
2.1. David Futcher, Council Position #4 
2.2. Jim Hill, Council Position #5 
2.3. Larry Alexander, Council Position #6 
2.4. Nancy Malone, Council Position #7 

 
 
3. Election of Council Officers: 

 
 
4. Consent Items: 

4.1. Contract Closeout 
4.1.1. Jones Road Waterline Replacement 

 
 

5. Citizen Business: 
 

 
6. Council Business: 

6.1. Interlocal Agreement– SW Washington Regional Airport Authority Management 
Services 



 

Kelso City Council Agenda 
Regular Meeting, 6:00 pm 

January 5, 2016 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

203 South Pacific 
Kelso, WA  98626 

 
 

6.2. Lease Agreement – Washington State Department of Transportation Airspace, 
Kelso/Longview Chamber of Commerce Visitor Center 

6.3. Lease Agreement Amendment – Kelso/Longview Chamber of Commerce Visitor Center 
6.4. Discussion – City Real Estate Services Request for Proposals 

 
 

7. Action/Motion Items: 
7.1. Ordinance, 2nd Reading 

7.1.1. Amending KMC 18.12 Flood Plain Management  
7.2. Resolution 

7.2.1. Employee Salary Classification Matrix Update, Amending Employee Handbook,  
Drug Free Workplace Policy  
 
 

Other Items: 
• City Manager Report 
• Staff/Dept Head Reports 
• Council Reports 
• Other Business 
• Executive Session 



 
KELSO TRANSPORTATION BENEFIT DISTRICT 

SPECIAL MEETING 
 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
203 SOUTH PACIFIC AVENUE 

KELSO, WASHINGTON 
 

Tuesday, October 20, 2015 
6:00 p.m.  

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
The Special Meeting of the Transportation Benefit District (TBD) was called to order by 
Chairman Futcher.  Board Members present were Jared Franklin, Gary Archer, Dan 
Myers, David Futcher, Todd McDaniel, and Gary Schimmel.  Board Member Rick 
Roberson was absent. 
 
Minutes:  Upon motion by Board Member McDaniel, seconded by Board Member 
Schimmel, ‘Approve the Minutes of the July 7, 2015 Special Meeting.’ Motion carried, 
all voting yes. 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
Financial Report: Finance Director Brian Butterfield reported, as of September 30, 
2015, cash on hand was approximately $345,000.  The TBD collected approximately 
$131,000 in 2015 and the expenditures totaled $938.  He commented that, when the 
numbers come in, there would be some transfers from the expenditure fund toward the 
Citywide Overlay Project. 
 
Approval of Refunds: Upon motion by Board Member Schimmel, seconded by Board 
Member McDaniel, ‘Approve the eleven refunds for vehicle tab fees erroneously 
received due to jurisdictional inaccuracies.’ Motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None 
 
BOARD BUSINESS: 
 
City Assumption of the TBD Discussion: City Attorney Janean Parker commented that 
in 2015 the Legislation adopted 2ESSB 5987 which allows a city to assume a TBD if it 
has boundaries coterminous with the city.  She briefed the Council on the process.  The 
Board directed staff to proceed with the assumption by the City. 
 
There being no further business before the Kelso TBD at this time, Chairman Futcher 
adjourned the meeting at 7:35 p.m. 
 
 



 2 

TBD Special Meeting                                2                                                         10/20/15 
 
 
 
 
        _________________________________ 
        David Futcher, Chairman 
 
Attest: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Traci Howard                            
Secretary/Deputy City Clerk  
 
 
 
 
 



KELSO CITY COUNCIL                                                                   December 15, 2015 
6:00 P.M.                                                                                       REGULAR MEETING 
 
Pastor Marv Kasemeier, New Song Worship Center, gave the invocation.  Mayor David 
Futcher led the flag salute.  The Regular Meeting of the Kelso City Council was called to 
order by Mayor Futcher.  Councilmembers in attendance were Gary Schimmel, Dan 
Myers, David Futcher, Rick Roberson, and Gary Archer.   
  
Minutes:  Upon motion by Councilmember Schimmel, seconded by Councilmember 
Myers, ‘Approve the Minutes of the 12/1/15 Regular Meeting and the 12/8/15 Special 
Council Workshop,’ motion carried, all voting yes.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING: 
 
2016-2021 Capital Improvement Plan:  Mayor Futcher opened the public hearing at 
6:01 p.m.  City Engineer Mike Kardas provided an overview highlighting the projects in 
the six-year plan.   
 
Anthony Currera, 803 South 6th Avenue, spoke from the audience. 
 
There being no further comments from the public, Mayor Futcher closed the public 
hearing at 6:09 p.m. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

1. Contract Renewal – Animal Control Services, Humane Society 
2. Contract Closeout – NW 2nd Ave Water & Sewer Improvements, Nutter 

Corporation 
3. Auditing of Accounts:  $2,026,414.50 

                    
Upon motion by Councilmember Schimmel, seconded by Councilmember Roberson, 
‘Approve the Consent Agenda and the Auditing of Accounts in the amount of 
$2,026,414.50,’ motion carried, all voting yes. 
 
CITIZEN BUSINESS:  None. 
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS: 
 
City Manager Employment Agreement Amendment No. 4:  Upon motion by 
Councilmember Roberson, seconded by Councilmember Schimmel, ‘Approve the 
Amendment to the Employment Agreement,’ motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
2016 Lodging Tax Request - $10,000 Allocated to Cowlitz Black Bears/2016 West 
Coast League All Star Game:  Upon motion by Councilmember Schimmel, seconded 
by Councilmember Archer, ‘Approve the Allocation of Lodging Tax Funds as requested,’ 
motion passed, all voting yes. 



Kelso City Council                               -2-                                12/15/15 Regular Meeting 
 
Proclamation of Civil Emergency – December 9, 2015:  Upon motion by 
Councilmember Roberson, seconded by Councilmember Myers, ‘Confirm the 
Proclamation of Civil Emergency,’ motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
Council Position No. 3 Vacancy Discussion:  Upon motion by Councilmember Archer, 
seconded by Councilmember Myers, ‘Approve the Open Application process for the 
vacant position.’ Discussion followed. Rick Von Rock, 400 North 7th Avenue, spoke 
from the audience.  With the consensus of the Council, it was determined that 
applications will be accepted until January 4, 2016.  A special meeting for interviews will 
be held on January 12, 2016, and the selected applicant will be sworn in at the January 
19, 2016, Regular Council Meeting. 
 
MOTION ITEMS:         
 
Ordinance No. (1st Reading) Amending KMC 18.12, Floodplain Management:  The 
Deputy Clerk read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by 
Councilmember Schimmel, seconded by Councilmember Myers, ‘Pass on 1st reading, 
‘AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AMENDING SECTION 18.12.070 OF 
THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT.’ 
Motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
Ordinance No. 15-3860 – Vacate portion of 2nd Avenue:  The Deputy Clerk read the 
proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember Myers, seconded by 
Councilmember Roberson, ‘Adopt Ordinance No. 15-3860, ‘AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF KELSO VACATING A PORTION OF 2nd AVENUE IN THE CITY OF 
KELSO TO ABUTTING PROPERTY OWNERS,’ motion carried, all voting yes.                  
 
Ordinance No. 15-3861 – Comcast Franchise Agreement Renewal:  The Deputy Clerk 
read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember Schimmel, 
seconded by Councilmember Archer, ‘Adopt Ordinance No. 15-3861, ‘AN 
ORDINANCE RENEWING THE GRANT OF A FRANCHISE TO COMCAST OF 
COLORADO/FLORIDA/MICHIGAN/NEW 
MEXICO/PENNSYLVANIA/WASHINGTON, LLC. TO OPERATE AND MAINTAIN 
A CABLE SYSTEM IN THE CITY OF KELSO; SETTING FORTH CONDITIONS 
ACCOMPANYING THE GRANT OF FRANCHISE; PROVIDING FOR CITY 
REGULATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE CABLE SYSTEM; AND 
TERMINATING ORDINANCE NO. 99-3444.’ Motion carried, all voting yes.                   
 
Ordinance No. 15-3862 – 2015 Budget Amendment No. 2:  The Deputy Clerk read the 
proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember Roberson, seconded 
by Councilmember Archer, ‘Adopt Ordinance No. 15-3862, ‘AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF KELSO RELATING TO PUBLIC EXPENDITURES AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF RCW 35A.34.150, FIXING THE 
AMOUNT OF MONEY REQUIRED TO MEET SUCH EMERGENCIES AND  



Kelso City Council                               -3-                                12/15/15 Regular Meeting 
 
AUTHORIZING THE EXPENDITURE OF MONEY NOT PROVIDED FOR IN THE 
2015-2016 BIENNIAL BUDGET OF THE CITY.’  Motion carried, all voting yes.                   
 
Ordinance No. 15-3863 – Interfund Loan to Airport:  The Deputy Clerk read the 
proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember Schimmel, seconded 
by Councilmember Roberson, ‘Adopt Ordinance No. 15-3863, ‘AN ORDINANCE OF 
THE CITY OF KELSO AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF FUNDS FROM THE 
GENERAL FUND TO THE AIRPORT FUND AND PROVIDING FOR THE 
REPAYMENT OF SUCH LOAN,’ motion carried, all voting yes.                   
 
Ordinance No. 15-3864 – Amend KMC Chapter 5.05.120 Utility Taxes:  The Deputy 
Clerk read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember 
Schimmel, seconded by Councilmember Roberson, ‘Adopt Ordinance No. 15-3864, ‘AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AMENDING KMC 5.05.120 TO INCREASE 
UTILITY BUSINESS TAX RATES ON CABLE TELEVISION ENTERPRISES FROM 
SIX TO EIGHT PERCENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FRANCHISE 
AGREEMENT FOR SUCH SERVICES.’  Motion passed, all voting yes.                   
 
Resolution No. 15-1147 – Amend Procurement Policy:  The Deputy Clerk read the 
proposed resolution by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember Archer, seconded by 
Councilmember Myers, ‘Pass Resolution No. 15-1147, ‘A RESOLUTION OF THE 
CITY OF KELSO AMENDING THE PROCUREMENT POLICIES AND 
PROCEDURES.’  Motion passed, all voting yes. 
      
Resolution No. 15-1148 – Adopt 2016 – 2021 Capital Improvement Program (CIP):  
The Deputy Clerk read the proposed resolution by title only.  Upon motion by 
Councilmember Myers, seconded by Councilmember Roberson , ‘Pass Resolution No. 
15-1148, ‘A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO 
RELATED TO CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS AND ESTABLISHING THE CITY’S 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM FOR THE PERIOD OF 2016 – 2021.’  
Discussion followed.  Council gave staff direction to slot the repair of Yew Street in the 
2016 CIP.  Motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
WALK ON ITEM: 
 
Resolution No. 15-1149 – Emergency Repair Work, Grade Street Drainage Culvert, 
Nutter Corporation:  The Deputy Clerk read the proposed resolution by title only.  
Upon motion by Councilmember Schimmel, seconded by Councilmember Archer, ‘Pass 
Resolution No. 15-1149, ‘A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF KELSO FINDING THE 
DRAINAGE CULVERT REPAIR ON GRADE STREET TO BE A SPECIFIC 
EMERGENCY AND APPROVES CONTRACT FOR EMERGENCY REPAIR WORK 
WITHOUT FORMAL BIDDING.’  Motion passed, all voting yes.  
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 



Kelso City Council                               -4-                                12/15/15 Regular Meeting 
 
Steve Taylor:   1) Brought forward a request from the South Kelso Neighborhood 
Association (SKNA) asking for relief on a $1,382.19 outstanding balance for their utility 
service at the 109 Allen Street facility.  He commented that the monthly electric bill was 
originally underestimated by the City and that SKNA is unable to raise the funds. 
Discussion followed.  Rod Wright, 97 Banyan Drive, spoke from the audience. Upon 
motion by Councilmember Schimmel, seconded by Councilmember Myers, 
‘Authorize the City to pay the outstanding balance charged to SKNA,’ motion 
passed, all voting yes.  2) Provided an update on the transition of management at the 
airport.  3)  Merry Christmas to all. 
 
COUNCIL REPORTS: 
 
Gary Schimmel:  He expressed thanks to the City Staff and to the Association of 
Washington Cities for educating him on the processes of city governments.  He 
commented that he looks forward to spending more time with his family.  
 
Dan Myers:  Commented that this year makes a total of 10 years serving on the Council.  
He commented that the Kelso staff has done a great job during these years.  He thanked 
everyone for all that they have done for him. 
 
Rick Roberson:  Merry Christmas to everyone. 
 
Gary Archer:  Expressed thanks for the opportunity to serve on the Council. Merry 
Christmas and Happy New Year to everyone. 
 
David Futcher:  Expressed appreciation for each of the councilmembers’ contribution 
and willingness to work as a team.  Councilmember Roberson commented on what he 
appreciated most about each councilmember that is leaving the Council this year. 
 
There being no further business, Mayor Futcher adjourned the meeting at 7:15 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
                                 MAYOR 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
                            CITY CLERK 



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:    
 
Construction Contract Closeout: 
Jones Road Waterline Replacement 
Project No. 591503 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY: 
Michael G. Kardas, P.E. 
Community Development Director/City Engineer 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin:  January 5, 2016  
 
For Agenda of:   
 
Cost of Item: $235,537.20   
 
City Manager: Steve Taylor__________________ 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM ATTACHMENTS:    
 
Final Quantities 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
The work on this project replaced substandard mains and relocated meters from private property to the city 
right-of-way.  The meters are now more accessible and will be easier to maintain. 
 
The project consisted of the construction of 880 lineal feet of 8-inch ductile iron waterline, 141 lineal feet of 6-
inch ductile iron waterline, 1 hydrant, 631 lineal feet of 1-inch water service line, and 1495 lineal feet of 1 ½-
inch water service line.  Surface restoration included 14 sites in front of the affected homes including asphalt 
restoration. 
 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 
 
Original Contract Amount: $244,830.71 
Approved Change Orders: $1,570.86 
Quantity Underrun:  $(10,864.37) 
Change in Contract Amount: $(9,293.51) 
Final Contract Total:  $235,537.20 
 
This project was funded by the Water Capital Reserve Funds. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
 
Staff recommends Council make a motion to closeout the Jones Rd. Waterline Replacement Project and 
authorize release of the retainage bond upon receipt of final approval from the State of Washington Department 
of Labor and Industries, Department of Revenue, and Employment Security Department. 
 







AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 

 
SUBJECT TITLE:  SW Washington Regional 
Airport Authority Management Services  
Interlocal Agreement 
 
 
  
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager  
 
For Agenda of: __January 5th, 2016_______ 
 
Originator:         Steve Taylor    
 
 
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 
Agenda Item Attachments:    
Management Services Interlocal Agreement with SW Washington Regional Airport Authority 
 
Summary Statement: 
The SW Washington Regional Airport Authority Board approved an interlocal agreement on December 23rd to 
have the City provide airport management, maintenance, finance/administration, and additional project 
management services.  The agreement includes provisions for a full-time airport operations manager as well 
as temporary administrative services to provide a smooth transition to the new management arrangement.  
The agreement continues through December 31st, 2017 and stipulates reimbursement arrangements for 
services provided including all salary and benefits of personnel assigned to the airport.  Exhibits A and B define 
the scope of services for the various activities and establish fees for the use of maintenance personnel and 
equipment. 
 
The City currently provides maintenance, finance, and administrative services to the airport authority.  As the 
owner of the airport property, the City has many years of experience managing the airport and its capital 
facilities.  Temporary management services will be in place January 1, and the Airport Operations Manager 
position will be advertised following Council’s adoption of this agreement and the amendment of the salary 
classification matrix. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
The agreement provides for a virtually cost-neutral service arrangement.  Non-budgeted Airport-related 
expenses that exceed SWRA’s resources are shared by the four contributing agencies (Kelso, Longview, 
County & Port).  The costs anticipated to be incurred by this agreement are not expected to exceed current 
budgeted resources. 
 
OPTIONS: 
1) Approve the interlocal agreement for Airport Management Services between the City and SWRA. 
2) Do not approve the interlocal agreement. 
3) Provide staff with direction for amendments and bring back for further consideration. 
 



 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Approve the amended Airport Maintenance Agreement between the City and SWRA.  
 
 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 1 
 

          
INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY KELSO AND 

THE SOUTHWEST WASHINGTON REGIONAL AIRPORT BOARD 
RELATING TO AIRPORT M A N A G E M E N T  ADMINISTRATION AND MAINTENANCE 

 
 

THIS   INTERLOCAL   AGREEMENT, hereinafter “Agreement",   is entered into 
between the CITY KELSO, ( "City") and the Southwest Washington Regional Airport 
Board (“Board”). 

 
WHEREAS, the City owns the Southwest Washington Regional Airport property at 

2215 Parrot Way in Kelso, Washington, (”Airport”); and City is the sole sponsor for 
purposes of existing federal capital grants from FAA for Airport Improvements; and  

 
WHEREAS, City operated airport until 2012; and  
 
WHEREAS, in 2012, the City entered into an interlocal agreement with the City of 

Longview, the Port of Longview, and Cowlitz County for the joint operation of the Airport 
(hereafter “Formation Interlocal”) by which the Board undertook to operate and 
maintain the Airport in accordance with said Formation Interlocal, so long as not contrary 
to the City’s responsibilities as sole sponsor for FAA Grant Assurances; and  

 
WHEREAS, Board has operated Airport since 2013 and has contracted for an 

interim airport manager to perform Airport management services since that time; and  
 
WHEREAS, Board has contracted with the City since 2013 for the performance of 

financial and administrative services, and also for Airport maintenance services; and  
 
WHEREAS City has both the necessary expertise and historical knowledge of the 

Airport to manage the Airport; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Board wishes to have and the City intends to hire a permanent 

airport manager.   
 

NOW THEREFORE,   in consideration of the terms and provisions contained 
herein, it is agreed between the City and the Board as follows: 

 
1. Purpose.     
 
It is the purpose of this Agreement to establish the roles, and responsibilities of the City 
and the Board for the performance of management, financial accounting, administrative, 
and maintenance services, in order for the Board to be able to carry out the business 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 2 
 

and operation of the Airport.   
 

2. Scope of Services. 
 

2.1.      Approval and Priority.   All services provided by the City to the Airport, 
as detailed in this Agreement, will be performed by City staff as approved and directed 
by Kelso’s City Manager and in accordance with all City policies and regulations.  City 
staff may take direction from the Board regarding operational activities, timing, and 
priorities, and may act, subject to written approval of the Board, as officers of the 
Board.   

 
2.2 Management Services.  The City shall provide all personnel and services 

and do all things necessary and incidental to providing management and administrative 
services for the operation of the Airport as set forth in Exhibit A, Schedule 1 attached 
hereto and incorporated fully by this Reference, (“Management Services”). 

   
2.2.1 The City shall exercise its best effort and do all things reasonably 

necessary to hire an employee experienced in public airport 
management and the management of FAA grants and capital 
projects by July 1, 2016 or as soon thereafter as is reasonable.  
This employee is to be the designated Airport Operations 
Manager and to be the primary liaison to the Airport Board to 
carry out the Board’s priorities.  

2.2.2 Until such time as the Airport Operations Manager is hired and 
trained by the City, the City will provide the services set forth in 
Schedule 1 at a limited level. 

2.2.3 The City shall provide a temporary interim employee to continue 
to perform the management administration as set forth in 
Schedule 1 Section II of Exhibit A from January 1, 2016 until such 
time as the Airport Operations Manager is hired and trained, but 
no later than May 31, 2016.  These services are to provide for a 
transition to the new Airport Manager.  

 
2.3   Financial Accounting, Personnel and Administrative Services.  The City 

shall provide all personnel and services and do all things necessary and incidental to 
providing financial accounting, personnel, and administrative services for the operation of 
the Airport as set forth in Exhibit A, Schedule 2, attached hereto and incorporated fully by 
this reference, (“Financial Services”). 

 
2.4 Grounds Maintenance Services. The City shall provide all personnel and 

services and do all things necessary and incidental to providing maintenance services 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 3 
 

for the operation of the Airport as set forth in Exhibit A, Schedule 3, attached hereto and 
incorporated fully by this Reference, (“Maintenance Services”).   

 
2.5 Additional Services.  The City may provide additional personnel and 

services upon request of the Board and with the approval of the City Manager, to 
include engineering and project management services on an as needed basis 
(“Additional Services”).  
 

3. Payment to City.  

3.1  In consideration of this Agreement and the services provided, the Board 
shall pay the City as follows:  

3.1.1 For Management Services, the Board shall pay an amount not to 
exceed $120,000 annually. This amount is reflective of all costs associated 
with the salary, benefits of the Airport Operations Manager (M-14) position 
as authorized by the City resolution.  This amount also includes interim 
administration services for a temporary interim employee for management 
administration as set forth in 2.2.3.  Compensation for Airport Management 
Services shall be paid to the City monthly 

3.1.2   The City shall provide sixty (60) days’ notice of any cost of living salary 
adjustment or employee classification changes or changes to tax, pension, 
state or federally-mandated insurance, or health insurance premium rates, 
or the City employee’s election of certain health benefit options that result 
in additional costs that exceed the amount specified in section 3.1.1.  If such 
changes are beyond the control of the City, the Board agrees to reimburse 
the City for the City’s actual costs related to these changes; provided 
however, that the City and Board will meet to discuss how to minimize the 
effects of the changes.   

3.1.3.  In the event this Agreement is terminated as provided for in 7.1 prior 
to December 2017, for any reason other than the City being assigned the 
management of the Airport, the Board shall pay the City for the costs 
incurred by the City in terminating this position prior to December 2017, in 
an amount not to exceed $40,000.  This provision shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement.   

3.1.4 For Financial Services, the Board shall pay $40,000 per year, paid 
quarterly, for Airport Financial Accounting, Personnel, and Administrative 
Services as set forth in Paragraph 2.3.  

3.1.5 For Maintenance Services, the Board shall pay the hourly rates set 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 4 
 

forth in Exhibit B for Lead Operator, Maintenance Tech, and Seasonal 
workers for the Services set forth in Paragraph 2.4, in an amount not to 
exceed $75,000, without the written approval of the Board. Such costs may 
include reimbursement for any costs associated with providing any 
specialized training or certifications required for its maintenance employees 
that are related to airport operations.   

3.1.6   For Additional Services, the Board shall pay the then current billable 
hourly rates that include salary and benefits for Community Development 
Engineering staff or other City staff when they perform work on or behalf of 
the Airport.  Rates charged will be the same rates that each employee bills 
out to projects.  Such services will only be performed following review and 
approval of such additional services and the costs therefore by the Board 
and the City Manager.   

3.2   Method of payment.  Payment by the Board for the Services will only be 
made after the Services have been performed and a billing statement has been submitted 
with a narrative and quantification of hours for completed tasks.   All claim vouchers shall 
first be approved by the appropriate Board representative, which shall specifically review 
the Services performed, the name and hours of the person performing such Services, 
Payment shall be made on a monthly basis within thirty (30) days after receipt of such 
billing statement. 

3.3   City Responsible for Taxes.  The City shall be solely responsible for the 
payment of any taxes imposed by any lawful jurisdiction as a result of performance and 
payment under this Agreement. 

4. Term of Agreement.   

This Agreement shall become effective immediately upon approval by the Board and City 
and shall continue until December 31st, 2017, unless terminated as provided in Paragraph 7.  
This Agreement may be extended for additional periods upon the mutual written 
agreement of the City and the Board. 

5. Ownership of Property.    
 
The parties to this Agreement do not contemplate the acquisition of any property to 
carry out the purposes of this Agreement. Any property owned by the City shall remain 
the property of City, and any property owned by Board shall remain the property of the 
Airport. 

 
6. Independent Contractor.    

 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 5 
 

6.1   The Parties understand and agree that the City is acting hereunder as an 
independent contractor and shall maintain control of all City employees, including but 
not limited to hiring, firing, discipline, evaluation, and establishment of standards of 
performance thereof.  The Board, however, shall be able to direct the management and 
operations of the Airport, consistent with the Formation Interlocal and all applicable 
Federal and State laws and all City laws and policies.    All City personnel rendering 
service hereunder shall be, for all purposes, employees of the City, although they may 
from time to time act, subject to written approval of the Board, as officers of the Airport 
Board 

 
6.2   The Board shall neither be liable for nor obligated to pay sick leave, vacation 

pay or any other benefit of employment, nor to pay any social security or other tax which 
may arise as an incident of employment.  The City shall pay all income and other taxes as 
due.  Industrial or any other insurance which is purchased for the benefit of the Consultant 
shall not be deemed to convert this Agreement to an employment contract. 
 
7. Termination. 

 
7.1. Termination by Notice.   This Agreement may be terminated by either 

party upon it providing the other party with 180 days’ advance written notice that such 
termination will occur by the end of the year, provided that in the event the operation 
and management of the airport are assigned or transferred to another municipal entity, or 
in the event the Formation Interlocal is terminated, this Agreement may be terminated by 
the Board by giving thirty days (30) written notice to the City.  

 
7.2   Termination for Cause.  Either Party may terminate this Agreement with 

thirty (30) days written notice upon failure of the other Party to comply with the terms of 
this Agreement.   
 

8.  Indemnification and Hold Harmless.    
 

8 . 1  The Board agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless City, and each 
of its employees, officials, agents, and volunteers, from any and all losses, claims, 
liabilities, lawsuits, or legal judgments arising out of any negligent or tortious actions or 
inactions by the Board or any of its employees, officials, agents, or volunteers, while acting 
within the scope of the duties required by this Agreement.   All costs, including but not 
limited to attorneys’ fees, court fees, mediation fees, arbitration fees, settlements, 
awards of compensation, awards of damages of every kind, etc., shall be paid by the Board  
or its insurer.  This provision shall survive the expiration of this Agreement. This 
provision shall also survive and remain in effect in the event that a court or other entity 
with jurisdiction determines that this Agreement is not enforceable. 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 6 
 

 
8.2 The City agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Board and 

each of its employees, officials, agents, and volunteers from any and all losses, damages, 
claims, liabilities, lawsuits, or legal judgments arising out of any negligent or tortious 
actions or inactions by the City or any of its employees, officials, agents, or volunteers, 
while acting within the scope of the duties required by this Agreement. All costs, 
including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, court fees, mediation fees, arbitration fees, 
settlements, awards of compensation, awards of damages of every kind, etc., shall be 
paid by the City or its insurer.  This provision shall survive the expiration or earlier 
termination of this Agreement. This provision shall also survive and remain in effect in 
the event that a court or other entity with jurisdiction determines that this Agreement is 
not enforceable. 
 

8.3 IT IS FURTHER SPECIFICALLY AND EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD THAT THE 
INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED HEREIN CONSTITUTES EACH PARTY'S WAIVER OF IMMUNITY 
UNDER INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE, TITLE 51 RCW, SOLELY TO CARRY OUT THE PURPOSES 
OF THIS INDEMNIFICATION CLAUSE.   THE PARTIES FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY 
HAVE MUTUALLY NEGOTIATED THIS WAIVER. 
 

8.4 The rights, duties and obligations set forth in this section 8  
(Indemnification and Hold Harmless) survive termination or expiration of this agreement. 
 
9.  Insurance.   
 

9.1 The City shall maintain for the duration of this Agreement, its membership in 
an insurance pool, such as Washington Cities’ Insurance Association, or otherwise maintain 
comparable insurance, to provide insurance against claims for injuries to persons or 
damage to property which may arise from or in connection with the City’s performance of 
the work by the City, its agents, employees, or subcontractors.  

 
9.2  The Board shall maintain for the duration of this Agreement, its existing 

Airport commercial general liability policy or otherwise maintain comparable insurance, 
with limits no less than $20,000,000 and shall name the City as an additional insured on 
that policy. 

 
10.  Miscellaneous. 

 
10.1.   Non-Waiver of Breach.   The failure of either party to insist upon strict 

performance of any of the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, or 
to exercise any option conferred by this Agreement in one or more instances, shall 
not be construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of those covenants, agreements or 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 7 
 

options, and the same shall be and remain in full force and effect. 
 

10.2.   Resolution of Disputes and Governing Law.   This Agreement shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington.  If the 
parties are unable to settle any dispute, difference or claim arising from the parties' 
performance of this Agreement, the exclusive means of resolving that dispute, difference or 
claim, shall only be by filing suit exclusively under the venue, rules and jurisdiction of the 
Cowlitz County Superior Court, Cowlitz County, Washington, unless the parties agree in 
writing to an alternative dispute resolution process.  In any claim or lawsuit for damages 
arising from the parties' performance of this Agreement, each party shall pay  all its 
legal costs and attorney's  fees  incurred  in  defending  or  bringing  such  claim  or  lawsuit,  
in addition to any other recovery or award provided by law; provided, however, nothing 
in this paragraph shall be construed to limit the parties' right to indemnification under this 
Agreement. 
 

10.3.   Assignment.  Any assignment of this Agreement by either party without the 
prior written consent of the non-assigning party shall be void.  Any such assignment shall 
include the obligations set forth in 3.1.1 and 3.1.3.  If the non-assigning party gives its 
consent to any assignment, the terms of this Agreement shall continue in full force and 
effect and no further assignment shall be made without additional written consent. 
 

10.4.   Modification.  No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the provisions 
of this Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized 
representative of each party and subject to ratification by the legislative body of each 
City. 
 

10.5.   Compliance with Laws.   Each party agrees to comply with all local, federal 
and state laws, rules, and regulations that are now effective or in the future become 
applicable to this Agreement. 
 

10.6.   Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the documents incorporated by 
reference contains all of the agreements of the Parties with respect to any matter covered or 
mentioned in this Agreement and no prior agreements regarding these matters  shall be 
effective for any purpose, except as may be set forth in the Formation Interlocal. 

 
10.7.     Severability. If any section of this Agreement is adjudicated to be invalid, 

such action shall not affect the validity of any section not so adjudicated. 
 

10.8.   Interpretation.  The legal presumption that an ambiguous term of this 
Agreement should be interpreted against the party who prepared the Agreement shall not 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 8 
 

apply. 
 

10.9.    Notice.   All communications regarding this Agreement shall be sent to 
the parties at the addresses listed on the signature page of the Agreement, unless 
notified to the contrary.  Any written notice hereunder shall become effective upon 
personal service or three (3) business days after the date of mailing by registered or 
certified mail, and shall be deemed sufficiently given sent  to the addressee  at the 
address  stated  in this Agreement  or such  other address as may be hereafter 
specified in writing. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties below executed this Agreement, which shall 
become effective on the last date entered below. 

 
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board  City of Kelso 
Dated: December  , 2015    Dated:    ,   
    
 
By:        By:      
       Darold Dietz, Board Member and          Steve Taylor, City Manager 
       Chairperson 
      
By:         
      David Futcher, Board Member and    Attest:     
      Vice Chairperson                City Clerk 
 
By:       
       Chet Makinster, Board Member       
 

By:       
      Dennis Weber, Board Member 
 
 
By:       
      Norm Krehbiel, Board Member 
   

Approved as to form:     Approved as to form:     

             
Paul R. Roesch, Jr., Board Attorney    Janean Parker, City Attorney    
 

 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 9 
 

Exhibit A.  Detailed Scope of Services and Fees. 
 
Schedule 1—Management Services  
 
The City shall furnish all personnel and services and to otherwise do all things necessary for or 
incidental to the performance of the work of providing management and administrative 
services for the operation of the Southwest Washington Regional Airport.  Such work includes:  

I. General Operational Management Duties  
Responsible for the administration, oversight, day - to - day operations and safety of 
the Southwest Washington Regional Airport including: 

A. Directs the planning and management of the Airport under the direction of the Board, 
including the implementation of the Airport Master Plan, subject to available funding, and 
such annual and periodic goals and work plans as the Board may adopt. 
B. Develops and administers the Airport budget for the Board and prepares for submission 
to the Board’s entity members;  
C. Authorizes expenditures, processes general claims and prepares financial reports; and 
develops financial strategies and alternatives to meet Board goals.   
D. Provides on-call 24/7 for immediate response to airport emergencies, accidents, 
crashes, and general maintenance concerns as necessary. 
E. Directs and manages the day to day operations of the Airport, including responding to 
and resolving concerns of the Board, staff, airport tenants, airport users, and the public; 
coordinating daily operations, special events and maintenance of Airport facilities.   
F. Communicates with tenants, customers, staff, and other Airport stakeholders on a 
regular basis regarding Airport business and services. 
G. Develops, evaluates, and implements the Airport Master Plan, and goals, policies, and 
procedures of the Board. 
H. Prepares reports and analysis of airport operations, monitors and reviews trends in 
Airport operations and management, recommends operational, procedural, and policy 
improvements.  
I. Develop policies and procedures to assure Airport activities are in compliance with laws, 
policies, regulations, timelines, and goals of the Board and regulating entities.   
J. Coordinate and attend Board meetings and facilitate effective meetings by providing 
agenda information, minutes, and updates on Airport activities, and assuring meetings are in 
compliance with notice and public meeting laws.   
K. Direct and manage Airport personnel by evaluating department issues, prioritize and 
assign tasks and projects, participate in interview, hiring, and training of staff and other 
contractors, provide coaching and instruction to employees as required and develop staff 
skills and conduct participate in performance evaluations.   



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 10 
 

L. Meet with representatives of community groups, government officials, agencies, and 
the general public to provide information on ordinances and policies relating to Airport 
operations and represent the interests of the Board with federal, state, and local agencies.   
M. Administer Airport contracts including leases, assignments, amendments, other 
contracts. 
N. Oversee operational activities of lessees, licensees and other Airport users to ensure 
compliance with contract terms and Airport regulations. 
O. Responds to requests for information in compliance with the Public Records Act; 
provides technical information to the Board and staff; identifies and researches technical 
issues and recommends solutions.   
P. Provide annual SCIP/ ACIP and annual WSDOT Data Base updates. 
Q. Provide recruitment service as directed by the Board for positions as directed. 

 

II.   Management Administration 
 

Until such time as the Airport Operations Manager is hired and trained, but in no event later 
than May 31, 2016, an interim temporary employee shall perform the following tasks: 
 
Southwest Washington Regional Airport -General Duties  

A.  SWRA Operating Board –  
o Preparation of Airport Operating Board Meetings 
o Agenda and packet development (coordination with Airport Manager) 
o Maintain adequate and required public notice for all Board meetings, workshops and 
o Special meeting notification 
o Transcription of Board meetings, workshops and special meeting minutes 
o Meeting minute preparation (maintenance on Airport website) 
o Sign in Sheets (development and record retention) 
o Comment Forms (development and tracking) 
o General Claims spreadsheet (development of general claims) 

   
B. SWRA Operating Board – Website Development and Management 

o Website development (2014) 
o On-going website updates – (e.g. SWRA Operating Board Meeting minutes, contact 

information, hours, etc) 
o Routine Coordination with Webmaster/Graphic designer 
o Project Information Sheet updates 
o Construction   

 
C. SWRA Operating Board – Budget, CIP, & General Claims/finance  

o Preparation/coordination for Budget workshops  
o Review and preparation of SWRA Airport Operating Board monthly general claims  



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 11 
 

o General Claims spreadsheet tracking and publication for each monthly 
Airport Operating Board meeting 

o Developed working relationship with Airport vendors and City staff (Finance) 
o Budget Resolution retention 
o Capital Improvement Project spreadsheet development for workshops. 
o Developed a CIP Project Map, with CIP Mapping of projects for Board members 

workshops, and as a visual aid (e.g. uploaded to Airport website) 
 

D. SWRA Operating Board – Airport hangar, property, tenant, outreach  
o Developed tracking system Airport Files (by Hangar# - includes hangar tenants, and 

contact information) 
o Process Hangar leases and ongoing coordination with Tenants 
o Routine coordination with Financial Services  
o Develop and continue to track Hangar information regarding current tenant hangar 

occupancy rates 
o Developed revenue report for the Board based on hangar revenue rental and land lease 

revenue information.   
o Revenue information provided to SAO during accountability audit purposes. 
o Tenant coordination – e.g. develop draft letters as needed. 
o Outreach/communication and coordination with Tenants (e.g. daily basis and/or at 

events such as Tenant Appreciation Day and the annual Expo in Puyallup).  
o Provide monthly updates to the SWRA Operating Board re: hangar occupancy, % rates, 

and recent Airport communication/coordination activity. 
o Developed aerial maps of Airport and hangars w/CWCOG (e.g. uploaded to website, for 

use when working with the public/tenants, events, hangar coordination) 
  

E. SWRA Operating Board – Emergency Services Coordination  
o Tenant and Pilot Communication/Coordination regarding Emergency Aviation Training. 
o Collaboration with our Local Emergency Service agency (e.g. Cowlitz 2 Fire and Rescue)  
o Coordinated Emergency Aviation Training Drills with C2FR, Life Flight Services and Pilots   
o Emergency 911 Drill – coordinated services with C2FR and Life Flight – training at Airport 
o Fire extinguisher training using C2FR flammable liquids pan (located at Airport North 

FBO Coordination annual basis with Local law enforcement (e.g. National Night Out)  
o Develop and schedule annual required emergency inspections with C2FR.   
o Civil Air Patrol coordination of airport & cadet activities (e.g. painting of the segmented 

circle project, FAA City electrical, partnering at NNO,) 
 

F. SWRA Operating Board – Maintenance and Inspection records  
o Coordination with Maintenance personnel (e.g. daily maintenance activities, hangar 

maintenance)   
o Tracking system for maintenance and inspection reporting requirements (e.g. FAA Self 

Inspection Forms) 



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 12 
 

o Recording USDA Wildlife database spreadsheet tracking wildlife mitigation at SWRA (e.g. 
USDA database to track wildlife activities at Airport)   

o Developed and maintain maintenance log -to assist with record retention on a weekly, 
and monthly basis (maintenance activities at Airport currently performed by 
maintenance personnel and FBO)  

 

G. SWRA Operating Board – Underground Storage Tanks and Inspection records  
o Business Licenses  
o Tracking DOE inspection reporting requirements and class A/B operating training and 

signing requirements 
o Recording results from Encompass, and tank monitoring results 
o Cathodic (3 year) testing and  
o Annual Tank tightness test scheduling and recording for Airport/insurance purposes 
o Coordination with Airports insurance accounts manager (Fournier) 

 

H. SWRA Operating Board – Office Management, Administration, Records, retention, letters 
o Work in office setting at Airport (daily requirements, office administration) 
o Board meeting materials record retention, resolutions, minutes, contracts, letters 
o Review and analysis of Airport insurance 
o Insurance updates as required – developed spreadsheet to Track Airport insurance 

information, policy, policy periods, premiums, account contact information, and renewal 
periods.   

  



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 13 
 

 
Exhibit A.  Detailed Scope of Services and Fees. 

 
Schedule 2—Financial Services  

I. City shall furnish all personnel and services and to otherwise do all things 
necessary for or incidental to the performance of the work of providing financial, 
personnel, and administrative services for the operation of the Southwest 
Washington Regional Airport.  Such work includes:  

a.  Monthly processing and preparation of Airport bills for payment, upon 
the timely receipt of properly completed and authorized orders of 
payment from the Airport; 

b. Monthly processing and preparation of Airport payroll and benefit 
payments.   

c. Maintenance of appropriate accounting records and computer files to the 
level currently provided by the City; 

d. Preparation of prescribed periodic accounting reports and annual 
reports; 

e. Investment of excess Airport funds and crediting investment income to 
the Airport fund in accordance with state law.   

f. Services to support State Auditor’s review. 
 
  



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 14 
 

Exhibit A.  Detailed Scope of Services and Fees. 
 
Schedule 3—Maintenance Services  

I.   The City shall furnish personnel and services necessary for, or incidental to, the 
performance of the airport maintenance duties as directed by the Board or its 
designated Airport Manager. 

a. Base services include:  
i. Daily removal of foreign material and debris (FOD) from Runway and 

Taxiways 
ii. Daily Lighting (bulb and fixture replacement) checks and Beacon 

Operational condition 
iii. Daily Security Checks of Airport Gates & Fencing, Hangars, and overall 

Airport Facility, 
iv. Daily non-lethal Wildlife Hazing, 
v. Daily completion and submittal of inspection reports, and  

vi. Weekly monitoring and monitoring report submittals by a Certified 
Underground Storage Tank A/B Operator to meet Department of 
Ecology and insurance requirements. 

b. As-needed services include, but are not limited to: 
i. Hangar Maintenance (door lubrication and debris removal, etc.) 

ii. Gate and fencing maintenance 
iii. Clearing and grading of brush areas 
iv. Removal or modification of perching/nesting structures and rodent 

control 
v. Storm water conveyance maintenance, and 

vi. Minor Electrical Repairs (such as Runway lights, Segmented Circle, 
and Rotating Beacon) 

 
II.   The Board shall make available to the City its tools and equipment used to perform 
the airport maintenance duties.   

III.     All such work shall be performed to industry standards or such standards as may 
be mutually agreed by the Board and City.   

 
IV.    The Parties agree that when such maintenance work is performed by City 
employees, they shall be at all times governed by the City’s personnel and safety 
policies and procedures as applicable.  

  



 
 
Interlocal Agreement – City of Kelso and  
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 15 
 

 

Exhibit B—Hourly Rates for Maintenance Services 

 

I.  City Employee Salary and Benefit Hourly Rate - 2016 

Public Works Maintenance Staff                 Straight Time             Overtime 

Maintenance Lead Technicians                      $43.50/hr.                   $65.00/hr. 

Maintenance Technicians                               $40.00/hr.                   $60.50/hr. 

Seasonal/Temporary Employees*                  $18.00/hr.                   $25.00/hr. 

II.  Truck and Equipment Rental for 2016 

 

Make Model Use Rental Rate 
John Deere 1517 Mower Deck  $69/day 
John Deere LT155 Riding Mower  $170/day 
John Deere 5410 Tractor $295/day 
 

Note: Rental Rates obtained from John Deere representative via telephone #888-777-2700 
December 2014 

 



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:  WSDOT Airspace Lease 
Agreement – Kelso Longview Visitor’s Center 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Council   
 
For Agenda of: _____January 5th, 2016  
 
Originator: ____         Steve Taylor    
 
 
 
City Attorney:      Janean Parker 
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
WSDOT Airspace Lease Agreement AA-04-06696 City of Kelso w/Exhibits 
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
The Kelso Longview Visitor’s Center is located on WSDOT property alongside the I-5 SR-4 Allen Street 
interchange, and has been allowed by the state through an “airspace lease.”  The installation of the 
new Visitor’s Center structure and the leasing of the facility to the Kelso Longview Chamber of 
Commerce for its general business activities (as opposed to visitor/motorist services) necessitated a 
new lease agreement.  WSDOT has prepared and approved the attached documents and provided to 
the City for consideration. 
 
Agreement Highlights: 

• 10-year initial term beginning July 1, 2015 with two additional 5-year periods 
• City will be required to pay $865.00 in rent and $111.07 in leasehold excise tax per year to 

account for the ground lease value of the portion of the Visitor’s Center that is being used for 
non-motorist activities. 

• 60-day notice for termination by either party 
• City must remove structures and improvements from the property in the event WSDOT needs 

the property for transportation purposes. 
• Recognizes sublease of the ground to the Chamber of Commerce and includes provisions 

related to the sublease 
 
 
 



Financial Impact 
$976.07 per year added to the operational costs of the Visitor’s Center currently funded through the 
Lodging Tax Fund. 
 
 
OPTIONS: 

1) Move to approve Airspace Lease Agreement AA-04-06696 with the Washington State 
Department of Transportation. 

2) Do not approve the agreement. 
3) Negotiate alternatives to the proposed lease. 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 1 of 17 

 

Revised 11/2012 

RES 420 
         

AA-04-06696 
IC 04-08-02105 
Parcel 4-03623 

Fed. Aid No. I-5-1(23)38-1 
SR 5 Longview Wye Interchange to Rocky Point  

 

A I R S P A C E  L E A S E  

THIS IS AN AIRSPACE LEASE (Lease) made and entered into between the 
WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, (WSDOT), and the CITY 
OF KELSO, (TENANT) a municipal corporation of the state of Washington. 

RECITALS 

A. The TENANT currently leases the property to be leased herein pursuant to 
Airspace Lease AA-04-06696, dated October 14, 1977, ICN 04-08-02105, and any amendments 
thereto (1977 Lease). It is the intent of the parties to supersede the 1977 Lease with this Lease.  

B. Pursuant to the 1977 Lease, TENANT installed a structure on the Premises to 
house a Visitor’s Center that would provide information to the traveling public.  TENANT has 
been removed this structure to allow construction of a replacement building.   

C. TENANT has installed a modular structure on the premises to be leased herein, a 
portion of which TENANT leases  to the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce for general 
business operations and other tourism promotion and economic development related activities. 

D. The land and premises to be leased are not presently needed for highway 
purposes. 

E. WSDOT is granted authority to lease property under RCW 47.12.120, and 
WSDOT deems it to be in the public interest to enter into this Lease.  

 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions, covenants and 
performances contained herein, IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED THAT: 

1. PREMISES. WSDOT does hereby lease to the TENANT, and the TENANT 
does hereby lease from WSDOT, the premises located in the Northwest Quarter of Southeast 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 2 of 17 

 

Quarter of Section 26, Township 8 North, Range 2 West, and known to be a portion of the 
highway right of way of SR5 Longview Wye Interchange to Rocky Point, Sheet 8 of 12 sheets, 
and as shown hachured on Exhibit A, attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein 
(Premises). 

2. TERM. The term of this Lease shall be Ten (10) years, COMMENCING 
retroactively to July 1, 2015 (Commencement Date). 

3. RENEWAL. This Lease may be renewed by the TENANT for Two (2) 
additional Five (5) year periods (Renewal Period); provided, that: (A) the TENANT is not in 
default and has not been in default during the term of this Lease; (B) there is no public need for 
the Premises; (C) TENANT’s continued use under this Lease does not impair the safety or 
operation of WSDOT’s highway or facility, as solely determined by WSDOT; and (D) the terms 
and conditions of this Lease conform to then-existing WSDOT policies or practices, laws, 
regulations and contracts, or provided TENANT is willing to amend this Lease to bring it into 
compliance with such policies, practices, laws, regulations, and contracts.  The Renewal Period 
shall be on the same terms and conditions as set forth herein, except as modified by any changes 
in policies, practices, laws, regulations or contracts and as reflected in a written amendment 
signed by both parties.  TENANT shall give notice of its intent to renew this Lease for the 
Renewal Period at least Ninety (90) calendar days, but not more than Six (6) months, prior to the 
expiration of this Lease, or any extension thereof. 

4. HOLDING OVER. In the event the TENANT shall hold over or remain in 
possession of the Premises with the consent of WSDOT after the expiration of the stated term of 
this Lease, or any written extension or renewal of the term of this Lease, such holding over or 
continued possession shall create a tenancy from month-to-month only, upon the same terms and 
conditions as are set forth herein; provided, that WSDOT or TENANT may, in addition to other 
remedies provided elsewhere herein, terminate this Lease for any reason with not less than 
Twenty (20) calendar days prior written notice. 

5. COMPENSATION. Compensation for this Lease shall be a combination of 
monetary rent and the provision of in-kind highway purpose benefits as follows:   

A. Rent.  The TENANT covenants and agrees to pay rent to WSDOT annually, in 
advance on or before the First day of July (Due Date).  Beginning on the Commencement Date 
stipulated herein, rent shall be paid at the initial rate, subject to adjustment as hereinafter 
provided, of Eight Hundred Sixty Five and no/100 Dollars ($865.00) for rent and One Hundred 
Eleven and 07/100 Dollars ($111.07) for Washington State Leasehold Excise Tax (LET) for a 
total annual payment of Nine Hundred Seventy Six and 07/100 Dollars ($976.07), payable at the 
address designated under Section 7.  In no event shall the rent be less than this initial amount. 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 3 of 17 

 

B. Consideration.  TENANT’s use of a portion of the property to provide traveler 
specific information, free of charge, which informs and orients the traveling public, is hereby 
deemed a highway benefit and/or as serving a highway purpose and is, in conjunction with the 
monetary rental payment, equivalent in value to the economic rent for the property.  Such 
traveler information includes information for food, gas, lodging, local attractions, regional tourist 
attractions, roadway conditions, roadway construction schedules, and travel safety.  WSDOT 
shall have the right to review any change in the use of the Premises and may require that 
TENANT’s monetary rental payment be adjusted. 

    6. TERMINATION. This Lease may be terminated by either party upon not less 
than Sixty (60) calendar days prior written notice to the other; provided, in the event of an 
emergency as determined by WSDOT, WSDOT may terminate this Lease with less notice or 
immediately, as deemed necessary by WSDOT. 

7. NONAPPLICABILITY OF RELOCATION ASSISTANCE. The TENANT 
acknowledges that this Lease does not at any time entitle the TENANT to assistance under the 
Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policy (Ch. 8.26 RCW). 

8. ENCUMBRANCES.  The TENANT shall not encumber the Premises. 

9. SUBSEQUENT USE FOR TRANSPORTATION PURPOSES. 

A. The TENANT and WSDOT hereby affirm that upon expiration or 
termination of this Lease for any reason and the subsequent use of the Premises for 
transportation or other purposes, such use will not be considered the use of any publicly owned 
land from a public park, recreation area, or wildlife and waterfowl refuge within the meaning of 
23 U.S.C. 138 and 49 U.S.C. 303 (former 49 U.S.C. 1653(f), Section “4f”).  If this Lease is 
terminated for highway construction and WSDOT or authorized local, state or federal official 
having jurisdiction of the land or a court of competent jurisdiction determines that replacement 
of the TENANT’s facility is required under 23 U.S.C. 138 and 49 U.S.C. 303, TENANT agrees 
to acquire any necessary replacement lands promptly at its own expense, and hold harmless 
WSDOT from any such related costs. 

B. TENANT further acknowledges, agrees and promises not to use Outdoor 
Recreation Funds as provided for in the Land and Water Conservation Act, 16 U.S.C. 460-l, 
sections 4-11 (see section 8(f)(3) within WSDOT owned right of way; such funds may be used 
outside of WSDOT owned right of way). 

C. Within Thirty (30) calendar days of the Commencement Date, the 
TENANT at its expense shall erect and maintain a permanent sign at a location on the Premises 
approved by WSDOT stating as follows: 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 4 of 17 

 

“This Visitor’s Center is located on highway right of way under an agreement 
between the City of Kelso and the Washington State Department of Transportation.” 

10. USE OF PREMISES.  

 A. TENANT’s use of the Premises is limited to the installation and 
maintenance of a modular structure and (1) the operation of a Visitor’s Center for the motoring 
public, including parking for operable vehicles of visitors and employees of the Visitor Center, 
and (2) through a separate contract entered into by and between  TENANT and the Kelso-
Longview Chamber of Commerce (Sublease), use of approximately 800 square feet of the 
modular structure by the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce for general business 
operations and other tourism promotion and economic development related activities and parking 
for operable vehicles of visitors and employees of the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce.  
For the purpose of this Lease, the term "operable vehicles" is defined as vehicles capable of 
being driven from the Premises under their own power on Ten (10) minutes notice.  Commercial 
activity is not allowed.  TENANT’s occupancy or use of the Premises and improvements, if any, 
shall not interfere with the use, safety, appearance, nor the enjoyment of the highway facility, nor 
produce fumes, vapors, odors, drippings, droppings, or discharge of any kind.    

 B. In using the Premises, the TENANT shall comply with all policies and 
regulations, including, but not limited to Chapter 47.42 RCW et seq. and WAC 468-66 et seq., 
heretofore adopted or hereafter promulgated by WSDOT relative to the location, operation, and 
maintenance of improvements located on the Premises.   

 C. In using the Premises, it is expressly agreed that TENANT shall (1) 
comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances, and regulations, including 
environmental requirements that are in force or which may hereafter be in force, and (2) secure 
all necessary permits and licenses for the uses of the Premises authorized in this Lease.   

 D. Access to the Premises is on the easterly side at or near Highway 
Engineer's Station FR2 2+35± to Highway Engineer's Station FR2 5+65, as shown on Sheet 8 of 
SR 5 Longview Wye Interchange Vicinity to Rocky Point.  Further, direct access to ramps or 
traveled lanes of limited access highways is not permitted.   

 E. TENANT shall not commit or allow to be committed any waste upon the 
Premises nor allow any public or private nuisance. 

 F. No new construction by the TENANT is permitted on the Premises for the 
duration of this Lease.   

11. SIGNS, DISPLAY, OR ADVERTISING DEVICES. Signs, display, or 
advertising devices are not permitted on the Premises unless they comply with Ch. 47.42 RCW 
and Ch. 468-66 WAC and are completely detailed on a separate plan sheet which has been 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 5 of 17 

 

approved in writing by WSDOT and incorporated by reference into this Lease.  Such advertising 
shall only indicate ownership and type of on-Premises activities.   

12. FENCES. Any WSDOT-owned fences in place at the time of execution of 
this Lease or relocated to separate the Premises from the traveled roadway will be maintained by 
WSDOT for the duration of the Lease.  Nothing is to be attached to WSDOT’s fence without 
WSDOT's prior written approval.  If any fence is damaged as a result of the TENANT’s 
activities, the TENANT will immediately repair such damage at its cost and to the WSDOT’s 
satisfaction; provided, that if TENANT fails to complete said repair immediately WSDOT may 
complete the repair and the TENANT agrees to reimburse WSDOT for the cost of said repair 
within Thirty (30) calendar days of the date of WSDOT’s invoice.  

13. CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY. WSDOT and TENANT 
acknowledge that they have jointly examined the Premises and the TENANT accepts said 
Premises in its present condition as of the Commencement Date of this Lease. 

14. MAINTENANCE. The TENANT shall perform or cause to be performed at its 
expense all maintenance of the Premises, including improvements thereon, if any.  Such 
maintenance will include, but not be limited to, keeping the Premises in good condition, both as 
to safety and appearance, and in a manner so as to assure the improvements and condition of the 
Premises do not adversely affect the highway safety and appearance and that such maintenance 
will cause no interference with the highway use, all to the satisfaction of WSDOT.  Application 
of pesticides and herbicides within WSDOT right of way as part of TENANT’s maintenance of 
the Premises shall be performed by, or under, the direct supervision of TENANT’s officers, 
officials, employees, and/or agents who possess a current Public Operator or Commercial 
Pesticide Operator license.  Washington State Department of Agriculture Pesticide Application 
Records shall be kept by the TENANT for each application in accordance with chapter 17.21 
RCW and be produced to the WSDOT within Five (5) calendar days after WSDOT requests the 
records. 

15. ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS. 

A. TENANT represents, warrants and agrees that it will conduct its activities 
on and off the Premises in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws.  As used in this 
Lease, the term “Environmental Laws” means all federal, state and local environmental laws, 
rules, regulations, ordinances, judicial or administrative decrees, orders, decisions, authorizations 
or permits, including, but not limited to, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 6901, et. seq., the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401, et seq., the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251, et seq., the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know 
Act, 42 U.S.C. § 11001, et seq., the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601, et seq., the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2601, et 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 6 of 17 

 

seq., the Oil Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. § 2701, et seq., and Washington or any other 
comparable local, state, or federal statute or ordinance pertaining to the environment or natural 
resources and all regulations pertaining thereto, including all amendments and/or revisions to 
said laws and regulations. 

B. Toxic or hazardous substances are not allowed on the Premises without 
the express written permission of WSDOT and under such terms and conditions as may be 
specified by WSDOT.  For the purposes of this Lease, “Hazardous Substances,” shall include all 
those substances identified as hazardous under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation, and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601, et seq., and the Washington Model Toxics 
Control Act, RCW 70.105D et seq., including all amendments and/or revisions to said laws and 
regulations, and shall include gasoline and other petroleum products.  In the event such 
permission is granted, the use and disposal of such materials must be done in a legal manner by 
the TENANT. 

C. TENANT agrees to cooperate in any environmental investigations 
conducted by WSDOT staff or independent third parties where there is evidence of 
contamination on the Premises, or where WSDOT is directed to conduct such audit by an agency 
having jurisdiction.  TENANT will reimburse WSDOT within Thirty (30) calendar days of the 
date of WSDOT’s invoice for the cost of such investigations, where the need for said 
investigation is determined to be caused by the TENANT’s operations.  TENANT will promptly 
provide WSDOT with notice of any inspections of the Premises, notices of violations, and orders 
to clean up contamination.  TENANT will permit WSDOT to participate in all settlement or 
abatement discussions.  In the event the TENANT fails to take remedial measures as duly 
directed by a state, federal, or local regulatory agency within Ninety (90) calendar days of such 
notice, WSDOT may elect to perform such work, and the TENANT covenants and agrees to 
reimburse WSDOT for all direct and indirect costs associated with WSDOT's work, within 
Thirty (30) calendar days of the date of WSDOT’s invoice, where those costs are determined to 
have resulted from the TENANT’s use of the Premises.   

D. For the purposes of this Lease, “Costs” shall include, but not be limited to, 
all response costs, disposal fees, investigatory costs, monitoring costs, civil or criminal penalties, 
and attorney fees and other litigation costs incurred in complying with state or federal 
environmental laws, which shall include, but not be limited to, the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601, et seq.; the Clean 
Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251; the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401; the Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6901; and the Washington Model Toxics Control Act, Ch. 
70.105D RCW, et seq., including all amendments and/or revisions to said laws and regulations. 

E. TENANT agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless WSDOT from 
and against any and all claims, causes of action, demands and liability including, but not limited 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 7 of 17 

 

to, any costs, liabilities, damages, expenses, assessments, penalties, fines, losses, judgments and 
attorneys’ fees associated with the removal or remediation of any Hazardous Substances that 
have been released, or otherwise come to be located on the Premises, including those that may 
have migrated from the Premises through water or soil to other properties, including without 
limitation, the adjacent WSDOT property, and which are caused by or result from TENANT’s 
activities on the Premises.  TENANT further agrees to retain, defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless WSDOT from any and all liability arising from the offsite disposal, handling, 
treatment, storage, or transportation of any such Hazardous Substances removed from said 
Premises. 

F. The provisions of this section shall survive the termination or expiration of 
this Lease. 

16. WSDOT’S RESERVATION OF RIGHT TO MAINTAIN AND GRANT 
UTILITY FRANCHISES AND PERMITS. 

A. WSDOT reserves the right for utility franchise and permit holders to enter 
upon the Premises to maintain, repair and enhance existing facilities and install new utilities and, 
for itself, to grant utility franchises and/or permits across the Premises.  Such installation will be 
accomplished in such a manner as to minimize any disruption to the TENANT.  The 
franchise/permit holder will be required to restore paving and grading damaged by the 
installation.  WSDOT also reserves the right to withdraw portions of the Premises for uses such 
as, but not limited to, telecommunications transmission sites, which WSDOT determines to be 
reasonably compatible with TENANT’s authorized use of the Premises. 

B. The TENANT shall not disturb markers installed by a franchise/permit 
holder and will contact and provide notice to any franchise/permit holder and all owners of 
underground facilities prior to any excavation.  TENANT shall contact WSDOT and call the 
Underground Utility Locating Service, or its successor organization, as part of its efforts to 
ascertain any and all owners of underground utility facilities and to locate the utility.  The 
TENANT shall not damage legally installed underground utilities.  TENANT shall comply with 
all applicable provisions of Chapter 19.122 RCW relating to underground facilities. 

17. TAXES, ASSESSMENTS, AND UTILITIES. The TENANT agrees to pay 
all assessments that benefit the Premises and/or which may hereafter become a lien on the 
interest of the TENANT in accordance with RCW 79.44.010.  The TENANT also agrees to pay 
all taxes that may hereafter be levied or imposed upon the interest of the TENANT or by reason 
of this Lease.  The TENANT is responsible for and agrees to pay the cost of utilities, including, 
but not limited to, surcharges, fuel adjustments, rate adjustments and taxes that serve the 
Premises. 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 8 of 17 

 

18. LIENS. 

A. Nothing in this Lease shall be deemed to make the TENANT the agent of 
WSDOT for purposes of construction, repair, alteration, or installation of structures, 
improvements, equipment, or facilities on the Premises.  The TENANT acknowledges that 
WSDOT may not, and shall not, be subject to claims or liens for labor or materials in connection 
with such activities by the TENANT. 

B. The TENANT shall at all times indemnify and hold harmless WSDOT 
from all claims for labor or materials in connection with construction, repair, alteration, or 
installation of structures, improvements, equipment, or facilities on or within the Premises, and 
from the cost of defending against such claims, including attorney fees. 

C. In the event a lien is filed upon the Premises, the TENANT shall: 

(1) Record a valid Release of Lien; 

(2) Deposit sufficient cash with WSDOT to cover the amount of the 
claim on the lien in question and authorize payment to the extent of said deposit to any 
subsequent judgment holder that may arise as a matter of public record from litigation with 
regard to lienholder claim; or 

(3) Procure and record a bond which releases the Premises from the 
claim of the lien and from any action brought to foreclose the lien. 

D. Should the TENANT fail to accomplish 1, 2, or 3, above, within Fifteen 
(15) calendar days after the filing of such a lien, the Lease shall be in default. 

19. WSDOT’S RIGHT OF ENTRY AND INSPECTION.   

A. WSDOT, for itself, its agents and contractors, and for the Federal 
Highway Administration (FHWA), reserves the right to enter upon the Premises at any time 
without notice to the TENANT for the purpose of inspection, maintenance, construction, or 
reconstruction of the highway facility or any element thereof, to perform security audits such as 
Homeland Security, or to perform environmental audits as provided for elsewhere in this Lease.  
Any loss of the use of the Premises due to WSDOT’s exercise of such right will be compensated 
for solely by a pro rata reduction of rent.  WSDOT shall in no way be responsible for any 
incidental or consequential damages due to such loss of use, if any, by the TENANT.   



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 9 of 17 

 

 B. WSDOT and FHWA may enter upon the Premises at any time without 
prior notice for the purpose of inspecting any excavation, construction, or maintenance work 
being done by the TENANT.  In addition, WSDOT and FHWA may enter the improvements, if 
any, on the Premises at any time and without prior notice, for the purpose of inspection, 
maintenance, and repair of said improvements.   

 C. Entry upon the Premises and the improvements, if any, for any other 
purpose by WSDOT and FHWA shall be conducted with reasonable notice to the TENANT and 
during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

20. INSURANCE. 

A. TENANT warrants that it is self-insured, and agrees to provide acceptable 
evidence of its self-insured status to WSDOT.  TENANT's insurance policy must provide 
liability coverage for the Premises, including public liability coverage for bodily injury, property 
damage, and personal injury of not less than Two Million and no/100 Dollars ($2,000,000.00) 
combined single limit per occurrence, with a general aggregate amount of not less than Four 
Million and no/100 Dollars ($4,000,000.00) per policy period.  The TENANT shall increase the 
policy limits at its sole cost, when and if WSDOT deems it necessary due to the TENANT’s use 
of the Premises. 

B. The TENANT assumes all obligations for premium payment, and in the 
event of nonpayment, the TENANT is obligated to reimburse WSDOT the cost of maintaining 
the insurance coverage and any legal fees incurred in enforcing such reimbursement should 
TENANT fail to pay the policy premiums. 

C. Coverage, if obtained by the TENANT in compliance with this section, 
shall not be deemed as having relieved the TENANT of any liability in excess of such coverage. 

D. In the event TENANT, after commencement of this Agreement, elects to 
terminate its self-insured status and secure commercial liability coverage, TENANT will 
promptly notify WSDOT and provide a certificate of insurance from an insurer licensed to 
conduct business in the State of Washington, in the amounts and types as set forth in Section 
20.A. above.  Further, TENANT shall provide a certificate of insurance within Ten (10) calendar 
days of receiving a written notice from WSDOT for an increase in the coverage amounts. 

21. HOLD HARMLESS/INDEMNIFICATION. 

A. The TENANT, its successors and assigns, will protect, save, and hold 
harmless WSDOT, its authorized agents and employees, from all claims, actions, costs, damages, 
(both to persons and/or property) or expenses of any nature whatsoever by reason of the acts or 
omissions of the TENANT, its assigns, subtenants, agents, contractors, licensees, invitees, 
employees, or any person whomsoever, arising out of or in connection with any acts or activities 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 10 of 17 

 

related to this Lease, whether those claims, actions, costs, damages, or expenses result from acts 
or activities occurring on or off the Premises.  The TENANT further agrees to defend WSDOT, 
its agents or employees, in any litigation, including payment of any costs or attorney’s fees, for 
any claims or actions commenced, arising out of, or in connection with acts or activities related 
to this Lease, whether those claims, actions, costs, damages, or expenses result from acts or 
activities occurring on or off the Premises.  This obligation shall not include such claims, actions, 
costs, damages, or expenses which may be caused by the sole negligence of WSDOT or its 
authorized agents or employees; provided, that if the claims or damages are caused by or result 
from the concurrent negligence of (a) WSDOT, its agents or employees and (b) the TENANT, its 
assigns, subtenants, agents, contractors, licensees, invitees, employees, or involves those actions 
covered by RCW 4.24.115, this indemnity provision shall be valid and enforceable only to the 
extent of the negligence of the TENANT or its assigns, subtenants, agents, contractors, licensees, 
invitees, employees. 

B. WAIVER:  TENANT agrees that its obligations under this section extend 
to any claim, demand and/or cause of action brought by, or on behalf of, any of its employees or 
agents while occupying the Premises for any purpose.  For this purpose, the TENANT, by 
MUTUAL NEGOTIATION, hereby waives with respect to the WSDOT only, any immunity that 
would otherwise be available to it against such claims under the Industrial Insurance provisions 
chapter 51.12 RCW. 

C. The indemnification and WAIVER provisions contained in this section 
shall survive the termination or expiration of this Lease. 

22. PERSONAL PROPERTY. WSDOT shall not be liable in any manner for, or on 
account of, any loss or damage sustained to any personal property of whatsoever kind stored, 
kept, or maintained on or about the Premises, except for such claims or losses that may be caused 
by WSDOT or its authorized agents or employees.  TENANT’s personal property includes, but is 
not limited to, the modular structure and any appurtenances thereto.  Upon termination of this 
Lease, WSDOT or its agent may remove all personal property remaining on the Premises at the 
TENANT’s expense and dispose of it in any manner WSDOT deems appropriate.  TENANT 
agrees to reimburse WSDOT for the costs of such removal and disposal within Thirty (30) 
calendar days of the date of WSDOT's invoice. 

23. “AS-BUILT” PLANS. Within Sixty (60) calendar days following the 
TENANT’s completion of underground utilities and/or buildings or other construction, the 
TENANT shall furnish WSDOT a complete set of reproducible “As-Built” plans, acceptance of 
which shall be subject to WSDOT’s approval.   



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 11 of 17 

 

24. NONDISCRIMINATION. TENANT, for itself, its successors and assigns, as 
part of the consideration hereof, does hereby agree to comply with all applicable civil rights and 
antidiscrimination requirements, including, but not limited to, Chapter 49.60 RCW. 

25. ASSIGNMENT; SUBLEASE.  

A. Assignment. TENANT may not assign this Lease nor any rights created herein. 

B. Sublease.   

 (1) Except as provided herein, TENANT may not sublet any or all of the 
Premises.    

 (2) WSDOT hereby approves TENANT’s sublease of a portion of the 
Premises, as set forth in that certain agreement entitled Lease Agreement between City of Kelso 
and Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce, entered into by and between TENANT and the 
Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce, dated October 1, 2013 (Sublease); Provided, that 
WSDOT’s approval the Sublease is contingent upon amending the Sublease to include the 
following clause within 30 days of the execution of this Lease: 

This sublease is expressly made subject to the terms, conditions and limitations 
contained in the Master Lease which is attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated 
herein by this reference as fully as if the terms, conditions and limitations thereof were 
set forth in full in this Lease and Subtenant agrees to assume and be bound by the same 
rights, responsibilities, privileges and duties that the as Sublessor/TENANT from and to 
the Washington State Department of Transportation.  To the extent the terms of this 
sublease agreement are inconsistent with the terms of the Master Lease, the terms of the 
Master Lease shall take precedence. 

 (3) TENANT expressly understands and agrees that the sublease of the 
Premises does not relieve TENANT of any of its obligations or liabilities under this Lease and 
TENANT shall remain fully responsible for such obligations and liabilities. 

 (4) It is expressly understood and agreed that WSDOT does not have a 
contractual or other relationship with the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce and that 
TENANT is solely responsible for any and all acts or omissions of the Kelso-Longview Chamber 
of Commerce pertaining to the Leased Premises. 

C. General. 

 (1) In the event the TENANT assigns this Lease, sublets, or otherwise allows 
third party use of any portion of the Leased Premises, whether by written or verbal agreement 
without WSDOT's prior written approval, WSDOT, in addition to or in lieu of terminating this 
Lease for default, and in addition to any damages it may experience, may demand a share of any 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 12 of 17 

 

revenue generated by such unauthorized use. WSDOT shall set the amount of said share and its 
decision shall be final and binding.  WSDOT may demand such share at any time during the term 
of this Lease. The TENANT shall pay said share to WSDOT within thirty (30) calendar days of 
demand. The TENANT agrees to pay said share retroactively to the date the unauthorized third 
party use of the Leased Premises commenced. Furthermore, such unauthorized assignment shall 
not relieve the TENANT hereunder from all of its obligations under this Lease, including but not 
limited to, payment of rent and maintenance of insurance.   

 (2) Any transfer of ownership or control of the abutting property owned or 
controlled by the TENANT to a third party is understood to serve as an assignment of the Lease 
and such assignment requires the WSDOT's prior written approval of such assignment. 

 (3) The TENANT hereby covenants that it is acting as principal and not as 
agent for any undisclosed principal. 

26. PERFORMANCE BY WSDOT. If TENANT defaults in the performance or 
observation of any covenant or agreement contained in this Lease, WSDOT, without notice if 
deemed by WSDOT that an emergency exists, or if no emergency exists, with Thirty (30) 
calendar days prior written notice, may direct TENANT to stop work and may itself perform or 
cause to be performed such covenant or agreement and may enter upon the Premises for such 
purpose.  Such emergency shall include, but not be limited to, endangerment of life, the highway 
facility or failure of TENANT to obtain in a timely manner the specified insurance coverage.  
TENANT shall reimburse WSDOT the entire cost and expense of such performance by WSDOT 
within Thirty (30) calendar days of the date of WSDOT’s invoice.  Any act or thing done by 
WSDOT under the provisions of this section shall not be construed as a waiver of any agreement 
or condition herein contained or the performance thereof. 

27. DISPOSITION OF IMPROVEMENTS. Except as provided elsewhere herein, 
upon termination of this Lease under any provision hereof, the improvements constructed by the 
TENANT on the Premises shall be removed by the TENANT at the TENANT's expense in a 
manner prescribed by WSDOT.  In the event the TENANT fails to remove said improvements 
upon termination, WSDOT may remove and dispose of said improvements as it deems 
appropriate and at the TENANT’s expense.  The TENANT shall reimburse WSDOT for all 
expenses incurred in such removal and disposal within Thirty (30) calendar days of the date of 
WSDOT's invoice for such costs. 

28. RESTORATION OF SITE.  Prior to termination of this Lease, TENANT 
agrees, if so directed by WSDOT, to restore the Premises to its condition prior to TENANT’s 
occupancy, reasonable wear and tear excepted.  This work is to be done at the TENANT’s 
expense to the satisfaction of WSDOT. 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 13 of 17 

 

29. VACATION OF PREMISES. Upon termination of this Lease, the 
TENANT shall cease its operations on and/or use of the Premises.  In the event the TENANT 
fails to vacate the Premises on the date of termination, the TENANT shall be liable for any and 
all costs to WSDOT arising from such failure. 

30. BINDING CONTRACT. This Lease shall not become binding upon WSDOT 
unless and until executed for WSDOT by the Secretary of Transportation or her duly authorized 
representative. 

31. ATTORNEYS’ FEES. In the event of any controversy, claim, or dispute 
arising out of this Lease, each party shall be solely responsible for the payment of its own legal 
expenses, including but not limited to, attorney’s fees and costs. 

32. MODIFICATIONS. This Lease contains all the agreements and conditions made 
between the parties hereto pertaining to the rental of the Premises and may not be modified 
orally or in any other manner other than by a written agreement signed by all parties hereto.  The 
receipt of rent by WSDOT, with knowledge of any breach of this Lease by the TENANT, and/or 
with knowledge of any default on the part of the TENANT shall not be deemed to be a waiver of 
any provision of this Lease.  Failure on the part of WSDOT to enforce any covenant or provision 
herein contained shall not discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right 
of WSDOT to enforce the same in the event of any subsequent breach or default. 

33. INTERPRETATION. This Lease shall be governed by and interpreted in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Washington.  The titles to paragraphs or sections of this 
Lease are for convenience only and shall have no effect on the construction or interpretation of 
any part hereof. 

34. SEVERABILITY. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
Lease shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such 
invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this 
Lease shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been 
contained herein. 

35. VENUE. TENANT agrees that the venue of any action or suit concerning 
this Lease shall be in the Thurston County Superior Court and all actions or suits thereon shall be 
brought therein, unless applicable law requires otherwise. 

36. SUPERSEDE. This Lease and the exhibits hereto constitute the entire 
agreement between parties with respect to the Leased Premises and supersedes all 
contemporaneous agreements and understandings between the parties hereto, which include but 
is not limited to the Airspace Lease, AA-4-06696, dated October 14, 1977, IC # 04-08-02105, 
and any amendments hereto.  



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 14 of 17 

 

37. TOTALITY OF AGREEMENT. It is understood that no guarantees, 
representations, promises, or statements expressed or implied have been made by WSDOT 
except to the extent that the same are expressed in this Lease. 

38. NOTICES. Wherever in this Lease written notices are to be given or made, 
they will be served, personally delivered or sent by certified or overnight mail addressed to the 
parties at the address listed below unless a different address has been designated in writing and 
delivered to the other party.  The TENANT agrees to accept service of process at said address; 
provided, that such address is located in the State of Washington.  Otherwise, the TENANT 
designates the Secretary of State of Washington as an agent for the purpose of service of process.  
Such service shall be deemed personal service. 

WSDOT: DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (Mailing Address)  
Attn.:  Property Management Program Manager  
P.O. Box 47338 
Olympia, WA 98504-7338 

   DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (Physical Address) 
   Attn.:  Property Management Program Manager 
   7345 Linderson Way SW 
   Tumwater, WA 98501 

 

TENANT: CITY OF KELSO 
City Manager 
203 South Pacific Avenue 
Kelso, WA 98626 

 
 
 
 
 

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 15 of 17 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease as of the date of WSDOT’s 
execution written below.   
 

Accepted and Approved by: 

 WASHINGTON STATE 
CITY OF KELSO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

 

By: ___________________________________ By: _________________________________ 
 Cynthia Tremblay, 

Title: _________________________________ Property Management Program Manager 
 
By: __________________________________ 
 
Title: ________________________________ 
 
Dated: _______________________________ Dated: ______________________________ 
 

 

ATTEST      APPROVED AS TO FORM 

 

By:_________________________________           By:_________________________________ 
 Assistant Attorney General 

APPROVED AS TO FORM                                       _____________________________, 20____ 

 

By:_________________________________ 

_____________________________, 20 ____



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 16 of 17 

 

AGENCY ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
 ) ss 
COUNTY OF COWLITZ ) 
 

On this ________ day of ________________, 20______ before me personally appeared 
______________________________________________________________, to me known to be 
the duly appointed ______________________________________________________________ 
of the City of Kelso and that ________________ executed the within and foregoing instrument 
and acknowledged the said instrument to be __________________ free and voluntary act and 
deed of said City, for the uses and purposes therein set forth, and on oath Lessees that 
___________ was/are authorized to execute said instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the 
_____________________ day of __________________________________, 20_____. 

 

__________________________________________ 
(Signature) 

 

__________________________________________ 
(Print or type name) 
Notary Public in and for the State of Washington 

residing at________________________________ 

My commission expires ____________________ 



AA-04-06696 
IC: 04-08-02105 

Name: City of Kelso 
 

 
Page 17 of 17 

 

WSDOT AGENCY ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 

STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
 ) ss 
COUNTY OF THURSTON ) 
 

On this ___________________ day of ____________________________, 20_____before me 
personally appeared Cynthia Tremblay, to me known to be the duly appointed Property 
Management Program Manager, and that she executed the within and foregoing instrument and 
acknowledged the said instrument to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said State of 
Washington, for the uses and purposes therein set forth, and on oath states that she was 
authorized to execute said instrument. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the 
__________ day of _________________________, 20_____. 

 

__________________________________________ 
(Signature) 

 

__________________________________________ 
(Print or type name) 
Notary Public in and for the State of Washington 

residing at________________________________ 

My commission expires ____________________ 



dunnde
Line

dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT AAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 1 of 1

dunnde
Line

dunnde
Line

dunnde
Line

dunnde
Line

dunnde
Line

dunnde
Line

Dunnde
Text Box
Access point FR2 5+35+/- to FR2 5+65

Dunnde
Line

Dunnde
Line

RennakK
Line

RennakK
Line

RennakK
Line

RennakK
Line

RennakK
Callout
Lease Premises



Lease Agreement between 

City of Kelso 

and 

Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce 

This Lease Agreement is dated /0 -1-)tl./by and between the City of Kelso, a municipal corporation ("the 

City") and the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce, a--~ ("Lessee") 

Whereas, the City leases property at 105 Minor Road, Kelso, Washington 98626, upon which it has the 

right to and is constructing a modular office structure at totaling approximately two thousand (2,000) 

square feet of interior office space ("Property"), and 

Whereas, Lessee has agreed to contribute funds, along with the City and Cowlitz County, to purchase 

and install the modular structure, and to prepare the Property for use, provided such funds shall 

constitute prepayment of rent as set forth herein; and 

Whereas, Lessee desires to lease a portion of the Property from the City for office space to conduct 

general business operations and regional tourism marketing, and 

Whereas, the City desires to operate its regional Visitor's Center at the Property and has, by separate 

agreement, contracted with Lessee to operate the regional Visitors Center from the Property; 

Now therefore, in consideration of the following terms and conditions, the City and Lessee agree as 

follows: 

1. Leased Premises. The City hereby agrees to lease to Lessee and Lessee hereby agrees to lease from 

the City, upon the terms and conditions set forth herein, office space consisting of approximately 

800 square feet (or approximately 40%) within the modular structure, located at 105 Minor Road, 

Kelso, Washington 98626, together with rights of ingress, egress, use of parking areas, and ail 

common areas (hereafter, "Premises"). The 800 square feet shall include the three offices and a 

portion of the reception area as noted on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated hereby; 

except that Lessee agrees to reserve space of at least 10' by 10' within one of the 14' x 12' offices 

for use by Cowlitz County or City staff members authorized to conduct tourism-related work from 

the space and as may be more particularly described within a separate operating agreement. 

2. Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall commence October 1", 2013 and terminate 

December 31, 2021. 

3. Use of Premises. Lessee may use the Premises to conduct Its general business operations and other 

tourism promotion and economic development related activities, or other uses as mutually agreed 

by the parties. 

Page 1 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 1 of 20



4. Lease Pavments. 

a. Lessee shall pay to the City during the term of the Agreement rent for the Premises in the 

amount of $1.00 per square foot or $800.00 per month, plus applicable leasehold excise tax 

under RCW 82.29, which is currently 12.84% or $102.72, due on the first day of each month. 

b. In addition to the monthly rent, Lessee shall pay $10.00 per month for insurance, and 

$100.00 per month for exterior common area maintenance expenses representing Lessee's 

pro rata share of such expenses. 

c. Lessee agrees to contribute funds in the amount of One Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($100,000) to City for the purchase and installation of the structure and other necessary 

capital improvements on the property. This contribution shall establish a pre-paid lease 

bank to be drawn down monthly on the 1" day of each month in the amount of $1,012. 72, 

for payments due under (a) and (b) above. 

d. The pre-paid lease bank shall be drawn down for lease payments and charges due under this 

lease agreement for the Premises. The pre-paid lease bank shall not be drawn down for 

space being used by Lessee for the operation of the Visitors Center portion of the Property 

or other tourism promotion-related users occupying the Property, as may be set forth by 

separate agreement. 

e. The City shall provide a statement of the drawdown and remaining balance at least once per 

quarter by either postal service or electronic mail, and at the request of Lessee. 

5. Additional Consideration. Lessee agrees to operate the regional Visitors Center for the City as a 

condition of this Agreement, in accordance with the terms of a separate operating agreement and 

so long as the City provides financial support for such operations as set forth in the separate 

agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit "B". In the event City no longer provides funding for 

the Visitors Center operations as provided by the separate operating agreement, then (1) the Lessee 

will not be obligated to operate the Visitors Center, and (2) the Lessee shall retain its ability to lease 

the Premises and conduct general business operations through the remaining term of this Lease 

Agreement, so long as Lessee is not in default and is otherwise in compliance with the terms of this 

Lease Agreement, and (3) the Lessee shall have the right to terminate this lease agreement. 

6. Operating Costs. Lessee shall be responsible for maintaining and paying all costs related to the 

interior common area maintenance and operation of the constructed structure and including but 

not limited to utilities (water, sewer, sanitation, stormwater, electricity, etc.), cleaning, and repairs. 

Provided however, that the City shall pay a pro rata share of these costs to the Lessee for that 

portion of costs allocable to the operations of the Visitors Center and other City uses, which portion 

shall be negotiated and set forth within a separate operating agreement which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit "B" between City and Lessee. 

7. Exterior Maintenance. City shall be responsible for maintaining and paying all costs related to the 

exterior common area maintenance of the constructed structure and the site improvements present 

on the Property at the commencement of this Agreement, including but not limited to parking 

areas, landscaping, and exterior paint and repairs. The responsibility of maintenance for future site 

Page 2 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 2 of 20



improvements not provided or installed by City shall be negotiated by City and Lessee as an 

addendum to this Agreement. 

8. Indemnification. Lessee agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the City harmless from any and all 
claims, costs, and expenses, including legal fees and costs incurred by the City in the defense of any 
claim arising from Lessee's use of the Premises or in the conduct of its business therefrom, or arising 
from any negligence of its agents, contractors, employees or invitees. Lessee hereby assumes all 
risk of damage to property or injury to persons in or about the Property from any cause, and Lessee 
hereby waives all claims in respect thereof against the City except for any claim arising out of the 
City's negligence or willful misconduct. 

9. Insurance. 

The Chamber shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, insurance described 
below against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in 
connection to Lessee's use of the premises under this Agreement. 

A. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than 
$1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate and shall cover liability arising 

from premises, operations, independent Chambers, products-completed operations, stop 
gap liability, personal injury and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an insured 
contract. The Commercial General Liability insurance shall be endorsed to provide Aggregate 

Products-Completed Operations coverage. There shall be no endorsement or modification 
of the Commercial General Liability insurance for liability arising from explosion, collapse or 
underground property damage. The City shall be named as an Insured under the Chamber's 
Commercial General Liability insurance policy with respect to the work performed for the 
City using ISO Additional Insured endorsement CG 20 10 10 01 and Additional Insured
Completed Operations endorsement CG 20 37 10 01 or substitute endorsements providing 

equivalent coverage. 

B. Personal Property Insurance. Lessee shall obtain and bear the expense of insuring Tenant's 
personal property, including but not limited to Lessee's furniture, fixtures, leasehold improvements, 

equipment, and inventory in the amount of full replacement costs. 

C. Waiver of Subrogation. The insurance coverage required by this section shall contain a 
clause whereby the insurer waives all rights of subrogation against the City with respect to losses 
payable under such policies. Lessee waives any and all right of recover against the City, or against 
the officers, officials, employees, agents, and representatives of the City, for any loss of or damage 
to Lessee or its property if and to the extent that such loss or damage is subject to coverage under 
any insurance policy in force at the time of such loss or damage or is supposed to be subject to such 

Page 3 of 9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 3 of 20



coverage per the terms of this Agreement. Any applicable deductible amount shall be treated as 

though it were recoverable under such policies. 

D. City Insurance Coverage. The City shall maintain appropriate property and general liability 

insurance for its interests in the Structure, the Property, and the Premises, and shall deliver 

appropriate evidence to Lessee as proof that adequate insurance is in force. Lessee shall receive 

advance written notice from the insurer prior to any termination of such insurance. The Parties 

agree that the City's membership in and coverage through its municipal risk pool, Washington Cities 

Insurance Authority, satisfies the terms of coverage required in this paragraph. 

10. Default and Termination. 

a. Lessee Default. The following circumstances shall be an event of default: 

i. Lessee fails to fulfill any lease obligation or term by which Lessee is bound under 

this Lease Agreement; 

ii. Lessee's default of the Visitor Center Operations Agreement; 

iii. Lessee's termination of the Visitor Center Operations Agreement unless such 

termination occurs pursuant to the City's default of that Agreement or the City's 

failure to fund the Visitor Center; 

iv. Lessee fails to cure any financial obligation within 30 days (or any other obligation 

within 30 days; provided however that if the breach requires longer than 30 days to 

cure, Lessee fails to start curing within 30 days) after written notice of such default 

is provided by the City to Lessee. 

Subject to any governing provisions of law to the contrary, in the event of Lessee's default, 

the City may terminate the Lease, and retain any prepaid lease payments remaining. In the 

alternative, the City may elect to cure any default and the cost of such action shall be added 

to Lessee's financial obligations under this Lease. Lessee shall pay all costs, damages, and 

expenses (including reasonable attorney fees and expenses) suffered by the City by reason 

of Lessee's defaults. The rights provided by this paragraph are cumulative in nature and are 

in addition to any other rights afforded by law. 

b. City Default. The City shall be in default of this Lease if the City fails to fulfill any lease 

obligation or term by which the City is bound within 30 days after written notice of such 

default is provided by Lessee to the City; provided however that if the breach requires 

longer than 30 days to cure the City starts curing within 30 days. Subject to any governing 

provisions of law to the contrary, in the event of a default, Lessee may abate the rent for the 

portions of the Premises rendered unusable for Lessee's purposes, or may terminate the 

lease if Lessee's use and occupancy of the Premises or a material portion thereof are 

Interfered with, prevented, or made dangerous. In the alternative, Lessee may elect to cure 

any default and the cost of such action shall be reimbursed by the City. If the City fails to 

reimburse Lessee on demand for any sum it owes Lessee, the amount may be deducted by 

Lessee from the next or succeeding payments of rent. 

Page 4 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 4 of 20



c. Termination. In the event the City terminates the Agreement for Lessee's default or in the 

event the Lessee terminates the Agreement without cause, City shall retain the remaining 

balance of the pre-paid lease amount. In the event the Lessee terminates the Agreement 

for City's default, or because the City no longer provides funding for the operation of the 

regional Visitors Center, the Lessee may terminate this Agreement and in the event of such 

termination, shall be refunded any remaining balance of the pre-paid lease amount. 

d. Remedies. Either party, in the event of a default by the other, may exercise any right or 

remedy available in law or equity. 

11. Notices. All notices required or desired by be given by the City or Lessee shall be in writing and shall 

be deemed delivered on actual delivery or three postal delivery days after depositing the notice or 
' demand in the United States mail, certified or registered, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

To City 

City Manager 
City of Kelso 
203 S. Pacific #217 
P.O. Box 819 
Kelso, WA 98626 

To Lessee 

Kelso-Longview Chamber of 
Commerce 

12. Destruction or Condemnation of Premises. If the Premises are partially destroyed by fire or other 

casualty to an extent that prevents the conducting oflessee's use of the Premises in a normal 

manner, and if the damage is reasonably repairable within ninety days after the occurrence of the 

destruction, and if the cost of repair is less than $10,000.00, the City shall repair the Premises and a 

just proportion of the lease payments shall abate during the period of the repair according to the 

extent to which the Premises have been rendered untenable. However, if the damage is not 

repairable within ninety days, or if the cost of repair is $10,000.00 or more, then either party shall 

have the right to terminate the agreement, and if so terminated, then any remaining balance of 

prepaid rent that has not been drawn in the prepaid lease bank shall be paid to Lessee. Lessee shall 

give City Immediate notice of any damage to the Premises. 

13. General Provisions. 

a. Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default immediately upon 

occurrence shall not waive such breach or default. Failure of the City to declare one 

breach or default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare another 

breach or default. 

Page 5 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 5 of 20



City: 

b. Redelivery of Premises. Lessee agrees to redeliver to City the physical possession of the 

Premises at the end of the term of this Lease, or any extension of this Lease, in good condition, 

excepting reasonable wear and tear, and damage by fire or from any other cause not 

attributable to the willful or negligent act of the Lessee, or its employees, agents, invitees, or 

visitors. 

c. Lessee shall not sublease, assign, transfer, or encumber any of Lessee's rights in and to this 

Lease Agreement or any interest therein, nor license or permit the use of the rights herein in 

whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the City. 

d. This Agreement represents the entire agreement between the City and the Lessee relative 

to leasing the Premises. 

e. No provisions of this Agreement may be amended or modified except by written 

agreement signed by the Parties. 

f. The parties agree that all provisions herein shall bind and inure to the benefit of the parties 

and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors, and assigns. 

g. Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of said party represents and warrants 

that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of said 

party. 

h. This Lease may be executed In counterpart and each counterpart constitutes an original 

document. Signatures transmitted electronically or by facsimile shall be deemed valid and 

binding on the parties 

i. Attorney's fees. In the event of any litigation related to this Agreement, the prevailing party 

shall be entitled to an award of reasonable legal fees and costs. 

f. If any portion of this Lease shall be held to be void, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason 

by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining portions of the Lease shall continue to 

be valid and enforceable. 

Lessee: 

City of Kelso Longview-Kelso Chamber of Commerce 

By: .44i ~ :j? 
Printed Name: 5 '"-f h:<> k 1r-lv 
Title: 0 I; hny 
Date: K !J q /1..01 3 

By:~~ 
Printed Name: /IJ'/(14#t b-lfiaWtiv~ 
Title: ~~'f@ 
Date: -~~'---'/(/;3_'1~+-""------

Page 6 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 6 of 20



Approved as to Form: 

g Oro~CVL!t~/) 
Janean Z. Parker, City Attorney 
Date: 4u.~Y""I- .?.~,a()t3 

Page 7 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 7 of 20



Exhibit A 

105 Minor Road Floor Pian 

Page 8 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 8 of 20



Exhibit B 

Visitors Center Operating Agreement 

Page 9 of9 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 9 of 20



I 
I 

I 
'[ 

I 
J 

I 
! 

I 
I 
I 
! 

"' ~ 

li 

II 
! 

11 

42' 

5' x 5' Porch Cover Cultured Stone Fascia 
with faocia to match 1 J Accents (Typ front 2 

corners) to mid·windcw 
height 24" ea side of 

sidiog pacapet f\ 
comer 

~ 

il 
OFFICE ; 14'x 12' 

OFFICE ~ 
14'x12' 

I 
I l 

I 
I 

OFRCE I STORAGE 

14' X 12' 

OPEN DISPLAY AREA 

( 28'x48' 

~ 
BREAK ROOM ~d HC~ 14'x 12' 

t---' 

G Do 
I H~~c I 

42' x 48' KELSO VISITOR CENTER 
FLOOR PLAN- REVISION #4 -
FOR PERSPECTIVE DRAWING 

' F NE 
c 

~ 7 

~ 16'Wx8'D ~ 
Porch Cover 
with Four 
24"x 12" 
Cultured 

~~one jumns 
p 

h ~ 

' 

' 

RAMP 
DOWN 

l 
~ 

April 25, 2013 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 10 of 20



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 
FOR OPERATION OF KELSO VISITOR CENTER 

This Operations Agreement ("Agreement") is dated effective this / day of 
0 cfo f7p r , 20 ;3. The parties ("Parties") to this Agreement are the City of Kelso, a 
Washington municipal corporation ("City"), and the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce, a 

("Chamber"). ------

Whereas, the City leases real property at 105 Minor Road, Kelso, Washington 98626, 
upon which it has the right to and is constructing a modular office structure totaling 
approximately two thousand (2,000) square feet of interior office space; and 

Whereas, the Chamber, by separate agreement, leases a portion of the premises, which is 
agreed to be forty percent ( 40%) of the interior office space, from the City for office space to 
conduct general Chamber business operations and regional tourism marketing; and 

Whereas, the City intends to operate its regional Visitor Center from the premises in the 
remaining sixty percent (60%) of the interior office space and desires to have the Chamber 
operate the Visitor Center at the premises; and 

Whereas, the parties wish to set forth the terms and conditions under which the Chamber 
will operate the City's Visitor Center; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and condition set forth herein, the 
City and the Chamber agree as follows: 

!. SERVICES. 

1 .1 The Chamber agrees to furnish all personnel, materials, and services and 
to otherwise do all things necessary for or incidental to the performance of the work set forth 
below and more particularly described in Attachment "A," attached hereto and incorporated by 
this reference ("Services"). 

Operate the City's Visitor Center at I 05 Minor Road in Kelso during established 
business hours, staffing the Visitor Center reception counter, answering telephones and 
inquiries of the public related to tourism and tourist-related facilities in Kelso and the 
surrounding area, maintain the tourist information exhibits and displays within the 
Visitors Center, and such other duties and responsibilities as are set forth in 
Attachment A. 

1.2 Compliance With Laws. All duties of the Chamber or designees shall be 
performed in accordance with all applicable federal and state laws and city ordinances as now 
existing or hereafter adopted or amended. 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 11 of 20



1.3 The Chamber shall control and direct the performance of the work. The 
City reserves the right to inspect, review and approve the work to assure that it has been 
completed as specified prior to payment. 

1.4 Performance Standard. All duties by the Chamber or designees shall be 
performed in a manner consistent with accepted practices for other similar services, performed to 
the City's satisfaction, within the time period prescribed by this Agreement and pursuant to the 
direction of the City Manager or designee. 

2. TERM. 

The Term of this Agreement shall commence on October 1'', 2013 and shall continue 
until December 31'', 2021, unless terminated earlier as provided herein. This Agreement may be 
extended for additional periods of time upon the mutual written agreement of the City and the 
Chamber. 

3. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION. 

3 .I The following circumstances shall not be an event of default: 

(a) The City ceases to budget funds to operate the Visitor Center, or 

(b) The City funds the operation of a Visitor Center at a location other than the 
facilities at I 05 Minor Road, or 

(c) The City terminates the services of the Chamber and engages a different service 
provider to operate the Visitor Center at I 05 Minor Road. 

3.2 These events shall not be an event of default under this Agreement. In these 
circumstances, the City may terminate this Agreement upon ninety days written 
notice to the Chamber. If the City terminates this Agreement for these causes, the 
Chamber may elect to keep all rights and obligations under separate lease 
agreement, including the right to lease space at I 05 Minor Road, or to terminate 
the lease Agreement with the City and receive back from the City the balance of 
any pre-paid lease amount. City shall pay for all services rendered and the City's 
pro rata share of interior common area maintenance and operation costs of the 
Visitors Center up to the date oftennination. 

The City's failure to pay for services rendered or failure to meet its obligations 
under this Agreement shall be an event of default. In the event of the City's 
default, the Chamber's sole remedy is to recover amounts owed for services 
rendered and maintenance and operation costs incurred. In addition, the Chamber 
may terminate agreement. Under these circumstances, the Chamber keeps all 
rights under its separate lease agreement with the City, including right to lease 
space at 105 Minor Road. 

3.3 The Chamber's failure to perform the services set forth in this Agreement or its 
failure to meet its obligations under this Agreement shall be an event of default. 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 12 of 20



In the event of a defanlt, the City may recover its damages and the City may 
terminate the Agreement. 

3.4 The Chamber's operation of the Visitor Center is a condition of the Chamber's 
lease of space under a separate lease agreement. In the event the Chamber is in 
default under this Agreement, or otherwise terminates this Agreement for any 
reason but City's default or the City's failure to fund the Visitor Center, the City 
may terminate the Lease Agreement and retain prepaid lease payments made 
under that Agreement. 

4. COMPENSATION. 

4.1 In consideration of the Chamber performing the Services, the City agrees 
to pay the Chamber a base monthly management fee of$1,250.00 for administering the Services, 
and, additionally, an amount determined annually following the Chamber's submittal and the 
City's approval of a budget ("Budget") delineating the operating costs of the Visitors Center. 
The Budget will be submitted to the City's Lodging Tax Advisory Committee following the 
Committee's annual call for projects. The City's legislative body receives the Committee's 
Budget recommendation and either approves, amends, or rejects the Budget. The City will be 
considered in breach of this Operating Agreement in the instance where either no or inadequate 
funding is approved for the Chamber to perform the Services described in Attachment "A". 

follows: 
4.2 Compensation Rates. The rate of compensation shall be adjusted as 

City shall pay the Chamber a base monthly fee of $1,250.00 for the above
specified Services through December 31st, 2013. The base monthly fee 
shall be increased to $1,500.00 beginning January 1'', 2014 through Dec 
31'' 2015, after which adjustments to the fee may be agreed to in the 
annual Budget taking into consideration changes to the Consumer Price 
Index over the previous Budget period and the general fiscal state of the 
City's Hotel/Motel Tax Fund. 

Additionally, the City shall pay a flat monthly fee for the City's pro rata 
share of interior common area maintenance and operation costs of the 
Visitors Center including but not limited to utilities (water, sewer, 
sanitation, stormwater, electricity, etc.), telecommunications, services 
cleaning, repairs, and general office supplies. Such payments shall be 
determined and adjusted in the following manner: Chamber shall submit 
the annual Budget described in 4.1 for the upcoming year which shall 
include the interior common area maintenance and operation costs. The 
proportion of shared maintenance and operation costs allocated to the 
Visitors Center within the Budget should be based upon reasonable 
estimates of usage given the square footage of the structure, hours of 
operation, and hours worked by employees within the structure. The 
Chamber shall submit the budget to the City by August 1st of each year 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 13 of 20



for the City's review and comment. The City shall pay 1112 of its pro rata 
share of the budgeted amount each month. At the conclusion of the year, 
the Chamber shall provide the City with an accounting of actual costs 
incurred and documentation of the reasons for any costs in excess of the 
budgeted amount. In the event the City's payments exceeded its pro rata 
share of actual costs incurred, that amount will be deducted from the 
calculation the following year. In the event the City's payments did not 
reach its pro rata share of actual costs incurred, that amount will be added 
to the calculation the following year. 

4.3 Method of Payment. Payment by the City for the Services will be made in 
accordance with the procedures set fotth in the agreement between the City and Chamber for the 
distribution and use of Lodging Tax funds. 

4.4 Chamber Responsible for Taxes. The Chamber shall be solely responsible 
for the payment of any taxes imposed by any lawful jurisdiction as a result of performance and 
payment under this Agreement. 

5. REPRESENTATIONS. 

5.1 The Chamber warrants that it has the requisite training, skill and 
experience necessary to provide the Services and is appropriately accredited and licensed by all 
applicable agencies and governmental entities. 

6. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. 

6.1 It is the intention and understanding of the Parties that the Chamber shall 
be an independent contractor. The Chamber or his or her employees or agents performing under 
this Agreement are not employees or agents of the City. The Chamber will not hold himself or 
herself out as nor claim to be an officer or employee of the City. The Chamber will not make 
any claim of right, privilege, or benefit which would accrue to an employee under law. The City 
shall neither be liable for nor obligated to pay sick leave, vacation pay or any other benefit of 
employment, nor to pay any social security or other tax which may arise as an incident of 
employment. The Chamber shall pay all income and other taxes as due. Industrial or any other 
insurance which is purchased for the benefit of the Chamber shall not be deemed to convert this 
Agreement to an employment contract. 

6.2 It is recognized that the Chamber may or will be performing professional 
services during the term for other parties and that the City is not the exclusive user of the 
Chamber's services; provided, however, that the performance of other professional services shall 
not conflict with or interfere with the Chamber's ability to perform the Services. The Chamber 
agrees to resolve any conflict in favor of the City. 

7. INDEMNIFICATION. 

7.1 Chamber Indemnification. The Chamber shall defend, indemnify and hold 
the City, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers harmless from any and all claims, 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 14 of 20



injuries, damages, losses or suits including attorney fees, arising out of or in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the negligence of the 
City. 

7.2 City Indemnification. The City shall defend, indemnify and hold the 
Chamber, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers harmless from any and all claims, 
injuries, damages, losses or suits including attorney fees, arising out of or in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the negligence of the 
Chamber. 

7.3 Should a comt of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is 
subject to RCW 4.24.115, then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury 
to persons or damages to pro petty caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the 
Chamber and the City, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the Chamber's liability 
hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Chamber's negligence. It is further specifically and 
expressly understood that the indemnification provided herein constitutes the Chamber's waiver 
of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely for the purposes of this 
indemnification. This waiver has been mutually negotiated by the patties. The provisions of this 
section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

8. INSURANCE. 

The Chamber shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, insurance 
against claims for iqjuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in 
connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Chamber, their agents, 
representatives, employees or committees. 

8.1 Minimum Scope of Insurance. Chamber shall obtain msurance of the 
types described below: 

A. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no 
less than $1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate and shall 
cover liability arising from premises, operations, independent Chambers, 
products-completed operations, stop gap liability, personal injury and advertising 
injury, and liability assumed under an insured contract. The Commercial General 
Liability insurance shall be endorsed to provide Aggregate Products-Completed 
Operations coverage. There shall be no endorsement or modification of the 
Commercial General Liability insurance for liability arising from explosion, 
collapse or underground property damage. The City shall be named as an insured 
under the Chamber's Commercial General Liability insurance policy with respect 
to the work performed for the City using ISO Additional Insured endorsement CG 
20 I 0 I 0 01 and Additional Insured-Completed Operations endorsement CG 20 
37 10 01 or substitute endorsements providing equivalent coverage. 

B. Workers' Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial 
Insurance laws of the State of Washington._ 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 15 of 20



8.2 Other Insurance Provisions. The insurance policies are to contain, or be 
endorsed to contain, the following provisions for Commercial General Liability insurance:_ 

A. The Chamber's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as 
respect the City. Any Insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage 
maintained by the City shall be excess of the Chamber's insurance and shall not 
contribute with it. 

B. The Chamber's insurance shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall 
not be cancelled by either party, except after thitty (30) days prior written notice 
by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the City. 

C. The City shall provide and maintain adequate property and general 
liability insurance coverage as referenced in Section 9(D) of the lease agreement, 
in which this Operating Agreement is incorporated, for the structure, property, 
and premises in and on which the operations of the Visitor Center shall occur. 

8.3 Verification of Coverage. Chamber shall furnish the City with original 
certificates and a copy of the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to 
the additional insured endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Chamber 
before commencement of the work. 

9. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER. 

In the performance of all Services under this Agreement, the Chamber, or its employees, 
agents, subcontractors or representatives, shall not discriminate against any person because of 
sex, age (except minimum age and retirement provisions), race, color, creed, national origin, 
marital status or the presence of any disability, including sensory, mental, or physical handicaps, 
based upon a bona fide occupational qualification in relationship to hiring and employment. The 
Chamber shall comply with the Washington Law Against Discrimination (Chapter 49.60 RCW) 
and with any other applicable federal or state law or local ordinance regarding 
non-discrimination. Any material violation of this provision shall be grounds for immediate 
termination of this Agreement by the City and, in the case of the Chamber's breach, may result 
in ineligibility for further City agreements. 

10. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. 

I 0.1 Warranty of Noninfringement. Chamber represents and warrants that the 
Chamber is either the author of all deliverables to be provided under this Agreement or has 
obtained and holds all rights necessary to carry out this Agreement. Chamber further represents 
and warrants that the Services to be provided under this Agreement do not and will not infringe 
any copyright, patent, trademark, trade secret or other intellectual property right of any third 
party. 

I 0.2 Rights in Data. Unless otherwise provided, data which originates from 
this Agreement shall be a "work for hire" as defined by the U.S. Copyright Act of 1976 and shall 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 16 of 20



be owned by the City. Data shall include, but not be limited to repmts, documents, pamphlets, 
advettisements, books, magazines, surveys, studies, films, tapes, and sound reproductions. 
Ownership includes the right to copyright, patent, register, and the ability to transfer these rights. 

11. CONFIDENTIALITY. 

The Chamber agrees that all materials containing confidential information received 
pursuant to this Agreement shall not be disclosed without the City's express written consent. 
Chamber agrees to provide the City with immediate written notification of any person seeking 
disclosure of any confidential information obtained for the City. 

12. WORK PRODUCT. 

All work product, including records, files, documents, plans, computer disks, magnetic 
media or material which may be produced or modified by the Chamber while performing the 
Services shall belong to the City. Upon written notice by the City during the Term of this 
Agreement or upon the termination or cancellation of this Agreement, the Chamber shall deliver 
all copies of any such work product remaining in the possession of the Chamber to the City. 

13. BOOKS AND RECORDS. 

The Chamber agrees to maintain books, records, and documents that sufficiently and 
properly reflect all direct and indirect costs related to the performance of the Services and 
maintain such accounting procedures and practices as may be deemed necessary by the City to 
assure proper accounting of all funds paid pursuant to this Agreement. These records shall be 
subject, at all reasonable times, to inspection, review, or audit by the City, its authorized 
representative, the State Auditor, or other governmental officials authorized by law to monitor 
this Agreement. 

14. GENERALPROVISIONS. 

14.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains all of the agreements of the 
Parties with respect to any matter covered or mentioned in this Agreement and no prior 
agreements shall be effective for any purpose. 

14.2 Modification. No provisions of this Agreement may be amended or 
modified except by written agreement signed by the Parties. 

14.3 Full Force and Effect. Any provision of this Agreement which is declared 
invalid or illegal shall in no way affect or invalidate any other provision hereof and such other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

I 4.4 Assignment. Neither the Chamber nor the City shall have the right to 
transfer or assign, in whole or in part, any or all of its obligations and rights hereunder without 
the prior written consent of the other party. 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 17 of 20



14.5 Successors in Interest. Subject to the foregoing Subsection, the rights and 
obligations of the Parties shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon their respective 
successors in interest, heirs and assigns. 

14.6 Attorney Fees. In the event either party brings a lawsuit to enforce the 
terms of this Agreement, or arising from a breach of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to its costs and attorneys' fees for bringing or defending against the action. 

14.7 No Waiver. Failure or delay of the City to declare any breach or default 
immediately upon occurrence shall not waive such breach or default. Failure of the City to 
declare one breach or default does not act as a waiver of the City's right to declare another breach 
or default. 

14.8 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. 

14.9 Venue. The venue for any dispute related to this Agreement or for any 
action to enforce any term of this Agreement shall be Cowlitz County, Washington. 

14.10 Authority. Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of the City 
and the Chamber represents and warrants that such individuals are duly authorized to execute 
and deliver this Agreement on behalf of the Chamber or the City. 

14.11 Notices. Any notices required to be given by the Parties shall be delivered 
at the addresses set f01th below. Any notices may be delivered personally or may be deposited in 
the United States mail, postage prepaid, to the address set forth below. Any notice so posted in 
the United States mail shall be deemed received three (3) days after the date of mailing. 

14.12 Performance. Time is of the essence of this Agreement in each and all of 
its provisions in which performance is a factor. 

14.13 Remedies Cumulative. Any remedies provided for under the terms of this 
Agreement are not intended to be exclusive, but shall be cumulative with all other remedies 
available to the City at law or in equity. 

14.14 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counter-parts, which counterparts shall collectively constitute the entire Agreement. 

Executed on the dates written below. 

CHAMBER 

u· 

Date: 8/iq / :W 13 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 18 of 20



Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 19 of 20



ATTACHMENT "A" 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The base of level of service required for the operation of the Visitors Center is described 
below: 

A. The Visitors Center will be open to the public between the hours of 8:00am and 
5:00pm Monday through Friday and 9:00am and 5:00pm Saturday and Sunday. 
Weekend hours may be adjusted for seasonal activities. Exceptions to the established 
business hours are allowed for certain holidays, inclement weather, and unforeseen 
circumstances. 

B. Ensure the Visitor Center reception counter is adequately staffed and phone answered 
during established business hours. 

C. Respond to tourism-related inquiries made by the general public and direct visitors to 
tourist-related facilities in Kelso and the surrounding area. 

D. Maintain tourist information exhibits and displays within the Visitors Center in a 
professional and orderly manner. 

E. Provide for all administration of the Visitors Center including: 
a) the hiring, training, and supervising of staff and volunteers for the promotion 

of tourism in Kelso and the surrounding area, 
b) accounts payable and accounts receivable, and 
c) implementation of the terms of the Operating Agreement. 

F. Prepare a tourism promotion strategy for Kelso, and implement those portions of the 
strategy within the constraints of the resources provided for tourism promotion by the 
City. Chamber staff, including the CEO and Project Manager, will participate in the 
implementation of the strategy. The onsite management, knowledge and experience 
of the additional staff will provide greater assistance in promoting Kelso and regional 
businesses and encouraging visitors and tourists to patronize local businesses and 
lodging establishments. The onsite management will also provide additional 
opportunities for the Visitors Center and Chamber in produce marketing products 
and/or programs to further tourist promotion. 

G. Other duties and responsibilities mutually agreed to by the City and the Chamber. 

Dunnde
Text Box
EXHIBIT BAA-04-06696ICN 04-08-02105City of KelsoSheet 20 of 20



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:  Amendment to the Lease 
Agreement with Kelso-Longview Chamber of 
Commerce – 105 Minor Road (Visitor’s Center) 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Council   
 
For Agenda of: _____January 5th, 2016  
 
Originator: ____         Steve Taylor    
 
 
 
City Attorney:      Janean Parker 
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
Amendment to Lease Agreement between City of Kelso and Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce 
Current Lease Agreement for 105 Minor Road 
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
A provision of the airspace lease agreement with WSDOT required the City to included amended 
language to its lease agreement with the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce for their use of the 
Visitor’s Center for its general business purposes within 30 days of approval of the airspace lease.  
Since the City is leasing space from WSDOT, although the structure on the site is owned by the City, 
any agreement with a lessee is technically a sublease with WSDOT.  This amendment incorporates 
the WSDOT master lease agreement and adds a new Section 14 “WSDOT Sublease Provisions” to the 
agreement between the City and the Chamber. 
 
Financial Impact 
None 
 
OPTIONS: 

1) Move to approve the amendment to the City’s lease agreement with the Kelso Longview 
Chamber of Commerce for use of the premises at 105 Minor Road. 

2) Do not approve the amendment. 



Page 1 of 3 
 

Amendment to the Lease Agreement between 

City of Kelso 

and 

Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce 

The Lease Agreement dated October 1, 2013, by and between the City of Kelso, a municipal corporation 
(“the City”) and the Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce (“Lessee”) is hereby amended as follows: 

1.  Exhibit C “Master Lease Agreement between the Washington State Department of Transportation 
and City of Kelso” is attached and incorporated herein within this Lease Agreement; and 

2.  A new Section 14 WSDOT Sublease Provisions is added: 

This sublease is expressly made subject to the terms, conditions and limitations contained in the 
Master Lease which is attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein by this reference as 
fully as if the terms, conditions and limitations thereof were set forth in full in this Lease and 
Subtenant agrees to assume and be bound by the same rights, responsibilities, privileges and 
duties that the as Sublessor/TENANT from and to the Washington State Department of 
Transportation.  To the extent the terms of this sublease agreement are inconsistent with the 
terms of the Master Lease, the terms of the Master Lease shall take precedence. 

 

 

 

City: 

City of Kelso 

 

By: _______________________________ 

Printed Name: ______________________ 

Title: _____________________ 

Date: _____________________ 

 

 

 

Lessee: 

Kelso-Longview Chamber of Commerce 

 

By: _______________________________ 

Printed Name: ______________________ 

Title: _____________________ 

Date: _____________________ 

 

 



Page 2 of 3 
 

Approved as to Form:  

 

________________________________ 

Janean Z. Parker, City Attorney  
 
Date: _____________________ 

 

Attest: 

 

Brian Butterfield, City Clerk 

 

  



Page 3 of 3 
 

Exhibit C 

Master Lease Agreement between the Washington State Department of Transportation  
and City of Kelso 























AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 

 
SUBJECT TITLE:  City Real Estate Services 
Proposal 
 
 
  
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager  
 
For Agenda of: __January 5th, 2016_______ 
 
Originator:         Steve Taylor    
 
 
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 
Agenda Item Attachments:    
RFP for Kelso Real Estate Services 
Responses (6) from Real Estate Firms 
 
 
Summary Statement: 
Three years have passed since the City requested proposals for real estate services relating to the sale and 
lease of its properties.  Butch Henry, Pacific NW Realty, has been the City’s real estate representative since 
2006 and was successful in 2012 extending his services to the City for an additional three years.  The 
properties currently being listed are included in the RFP within this agenda packet.  Staff issued the request for 
proposals last November and received six responses from firms active in the Cowlitz County market: 
 

• Eric Fuller & Associates – Paul Young 
• Century 21/R.E. Lund Realty – Bob Lund 
• Pacific NW Realty – Butch Henry/Steve Dahl 
• Woodford Commercial Real Estate – Todd Wade/Chris Roewe 
• John L. Scott – Diane Lokan 
• RE/Max – Matt Peters 

 
All of the respondents had strong track records and extensive experience performing commercial sale and 
leasing transactions and marketing.  Marketing, pricing, and outreach methods varied among several brokers, 
with some approaches more targeted, and others quite broad. 
 
After significant review of the responses and communication with the respondents, staff’s recommendation is 
to enter into a one-year agreement with Woodford Commercial Real Estate.  Their large share of the 
commercial market in Cowlitz County, success in leasing and selling Kelso and Longview downtown properties, 
and general knowledge of small business and commercial lending set them apart as the firm with the highest 
likelihood of either selling or leasing the City’s vacant building spaces and developing solutions for the South 
Pacific vacant parcel.   
 



Woodford’s pricing terms are 5% commissions on lease and sale transactions and consulting services are 
$150/hr for Brokers and $75/hr for Licensed Assistants.  Commissions are to be paid by the seller of the 
property, but in the event a commission cannot be negotiated, the fee is 2.5% of the sales price.  The City 
would negotiate these terms within our standard Professional Services Agreement. 
 
The large response from the local real estate firms was refreshing and illustrates the greater interest in Kelso’s 
downtown market as well as a stronger economy.  Proposals from each of the respondents are included for 
Council’s review and consideration. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
Difficult to quantify.  Woodford’s commission rate is 5% vs. 5.75% with the City’s current agreement.  
However, assuming properties can be sold or leased, the sale prices and lease rates can vary, thus affecting 
the net amount realized by the City. 
 
OPTIONS: 
1) Move to authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Woodford Commercial Real Estate for                                      
real estate services for a one (1) year period. 
2) Authorize the Manager to enter into an agreement with another qualified respondent. 
3) Provide staff with direction for further consideration at a later time. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Authorize the City Manager to enter into a professional services agreement with Woodford Commercial Real 
Estate for real estate services for a one (1) year period.  
 
 

































































































AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:   Ordinance to amend KMC 
18.12 Floodplain Management 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY: 
 
Michael Kardas, P.E. 
Community Development Director/City Engineer 
 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: Engineering  
 
For Agenda of: January 5, 2016  
 
Cost of Item:   None  
 
City Manager: Steve Taylor__________________ 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM ATTACHMENTS:    
 
Proposed Ordinance with redline/strikeout of KMC 18.12.070    
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
 
This is a minor housekeeping amendment for the City Code that if not completed could have significant 
consequences.  
 
The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) requires that the title of the Flood Insurance Study and 
associated Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) that will become effective on December 16, 2015 be explicitly 
referenced in the City’s code. A different title of this document is currently in the code. Updating the document 
title will meet the necessary requirements of the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP).  
 
If not adopted, FEMA can/will suspend the City from the NFIP for failure to adopt the new Flood Insurance 
Study and FIRM by their effective date, December 16, 2016. If a suspension does occur, flood insurance policies 
will become temporarily non-renewable until the new provision gets included. 
 
 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 
 
No financial impacts to the City budget 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
 
Staff recommends adoption of the Ordinance upon 2nd reading to update the KMC 18.12 Floodplain 
Management chapter.  
 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AMENDING 
SECTION 18.12.070 OF THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING 
TO FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT.  

 
 WHEREAS, the City is required to make the following changes to its code in 
order to be in compliance with FEMA regulations;  
 
 SECTION 1.  KMC Section 18.12.070 Amended. Kelso Municipal Code Section 

18.12.070 is hereby amended as follows: 

18.12.070 Basis for establishing the areas of special flood hazard. 
The areas of special flood hazard identified by the Federal Insurance Administration and 
recognized by the State Department of Ecology (DOE) in a scientific and engineering report 
entitled “Flood Insurance Study (FIS) for Cowlitz County, Washington and Incorporated Areas,” 
dated December 16, 2015, and any revisions thereto, with accompanying Flood Insurance Rate 
Maps (FIRM), and any revisions thereto, are hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a 
part of this chapter. The flood insurance study and the FIRM are on file at Kelso City Hall, 203 
S. Pacific Avenue, Kelso, Washington, 98626. The best available information for flood hazard 
area identification as outlined in Section 18.12.150 of this chapter shall be the basis for 
regulation until a new FIRM is issued that incorporates data utilized under Section 18.12.150 of 
this chapter. 
 
 SECTION 2.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days after its 

passage and publication of summary as required by law. 

 ADOPTED by the City Council and SIGNED by the Mayor this _____ day of 

___________________, 2016. 

 
       ____________________________________ 
       MAYOR 
 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATION: 
 
_______________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AMENDING 
SECTION 18.12.070 OF THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING 
TO FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT.  

 
 WHEREAS, the City is required to make the following changes to its code in 
order to be in compliance with FEMA regulations;  
 
 SECTION 1.  KMC Section 18.12.070 Amended. Kelso Municipal Code Section 

18.12.070 is hereby amended as follows: 

18.12.070 Basis for establishing the areas of special flood hazard. 
The areas of special flood hazard identified by the Federal Insurance Administration and 
recognized by the State Department of Ecology (DOE) in a scientific and engineering report 
entitled “Flood Insurance Study (FIS) for Cowlitz County, Washington and Incorporated Areas,” 
dated December 16, 2015,  “Flood Insurance Study for the City of Kelso, Washington,” dated 
December 20, 2001, and any revisions thereto, with accompanying Flood Insurance Rate Maps 
(FIRM), and any revisions thereto, are hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part of 
this chapter. The flood insurance study and the FIRM are on file at Kelso City Hall, 203 S. 
Pacific Avenue, Kelso, Washington, 98626. The best available information for flood hazard area 
identification as outlined in Section 18.12.150 of this chapter shall be the basis for regulation 
until a new FIRM is issued that incorporates data utilized under Section 18.12.150 of this 
chapter. 
 
 SECTION 2.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days after its 

passage and publication of summary as required by law. 

 ADOPTED by the City Council and SIGNED by the Mayor this _____ day of 

___________________, 2016. 

 
       ____________________________________ 
       MAYOR 
 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATION: 
 
_______________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE:  RESOLUTION 
AMENDING THE PERSONNEL POLICY 
HANDBOOK AND NON-REPRESENTED 
EMPLOYEE SALARY MATRIX 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
Steve Taylor 
  

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin:  City Manager’s Office 
 
For Agenda of: January 5, 2016   
 
Originator: Steve Taylor    
 
 
 
City Attorney:      Janean Parker 
 
City Manager:      Steve Taylor    
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
Employee Handbook Resolution 
2016 Revised Non-Represented Employee Salary Matrix and Classifications 
Current adopted 2016 Non-Represented Employee Salary Matrix 
Proposed Article 6.13 Substance Abuse Policy (Employee Handbook) 
Current Article 6.13 Substance Abuse Policy (Employee Handbook) 
Proposed Job Descriptions for New or Re-classified positions 
 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
Staff is proposing amendments to the 2016 Non-represented Employee Classification table Article 
6.13 Substance Abuse Policy of the Personnel Policy Handbook. 
 
The classification table included as Appendix D to the Personnel Policy Handbook incorporates a new 
M-14 Airport Operations Manager position ($65,372 - $79,535) which will allow the City to implement 
the airport management services agreement which is under consideration at the January 5th, 2016 
regular council meeting.  All salary and benefit costs associated with the position will be reimbursed 
by the Airport Authority. If approved, the City will post the job during the first week in January. 
 
Additionally, staff is proposing to adjust the M-3 Project Coordinator position to an M-4 classification.  
The job description has been enhanced to account for more complex responsibilities that will be 
assigned when the position is filled.  The top range of the classification is 5% higher than the M-3 
($48,827 compared to $46,502) for potential increased cost to the City of $2,325.  Job descriptions 
for both positions are included for your review in this packet. 
 
Separately, staff has brought forward an amended employee substance abuse policy reviewed and 
revised by WCIA insurance pool attorneys.  The policy is incorporated in Article 6.13 of the Personnel 



Policy Handbook.  The most substantive area of revision pertains to the use of marijuana by City 
employees.  The policy prohibits recreational and medical use of marijuana in order for the City to 
maintain a Drug-Free Workplace that corresponds with federal guidelines and won’t place the City in 
jeopardy of maintaining eligbility for federal grants. 
 
 
OPTIONS 

1) Move to approve the Resolution amending the Personnel Policy Handbook and Salary 
Classification Matrix; 

2) Provide direction to amend the Resolution and the components within; 
3) Do not approve the Resolution. 

 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Staff recommends the City Council adopt the attached resolution amending the Personnel Policy and  
Salary Classification Matrix.  



RESOLUTION NO. ____________________ 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO 
AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 15-1145 AND ADOPTING CHANGES TO THE 
SALARY CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM FOR NON-REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES, 
AMENDING THE PERSONNEL POLICY HANDBOOK APPLYING TO THE 
EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY AS INDICATED THEREIN. 

 WHEREAS, the City Council has adopted a Personnel Policy Handbook and has found it 
necessary to make periodic amendments to reflect changes in law and best practices and to 
enhance the effectiveness of the provision of public services; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council desires to revise the salary classification system for non-
represented employees;  

 NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO DO 
HEREBY RESOLVE: 

 SECTION 1.  That Appendix “D” of the Personnel Policy Handbook is amended in its 
entirety by an amended 2016 Non-Represented Employee Salary Matrix and Classifications 
attached hereto as “Exhibit A”. 

 SECTION 2.  That Article 6.13 Substance Abuse Policy of the Personnel Policy 
Handbook attached hereto as “Exhibit B” replaces and amends the current language contained 
within the same article of the Personnel Policy Handbook. 

 SECTION 3.  This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
ADOPTED by the City Council and SIGNED by the Mayor this ________ day of  
 
______________, 2016. 

       ______________________________ 

        Mayor 

Attest/Authentication: 
 
_____________________ 
CITY CLERK 
Approved as to form: 
 
__________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 



Appendix "D"

Non-Represented Employee Classifications (Proposed 1/5/2016 amendment)
2016

Range Position Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Annual Lo Annual Hi

Unclassified City Manager

M20 Police Chief 7,300$            7,592$            7,896$            8,212$            8,540$            8,882$            87,604$          106,584$       

M19 Director of Public Works 6,953$            7,231$            7,520$            7,821$            8,134$            8,459$            83,433$          101,509$       

M19 Finance Dir - City Clerk 6,953$            7,231$            7,520$            7,821$            8,134$            8,459$            83,433$          101,509$       

M19 Comm Dev Dir - City Engineer 6,953$            7,231$            7,520$            7,821$            8,134$            8,459$            83,433$          101,509$       

M18 Police Captain 6,622$            6,887$            7,162$            7,448$            7,746$            8,056$            79,460$          96,675$          

M16 Public Works Superintendent 6,006$            6,246$            6,496$            6,756$            7,026$            7,307$            72,072$          87,687$          

M16 Senior Engineer 6,006$            6,246$            6,496$            6,756$            7,026$            7,307$            72,072$          87,687$          

M14 Civil Engineer 5,448$            5,666$            5,892$            6,128$            6,373$            6,628$            65,372$          79,535$          

M14 Airport Operations Manager 5,448$            5,666$            5,892$            6,128$            6,373$            6,628$            65,372$          79,535$          

M13 Planning Manager 5,188$            5,396$            5,612$            5,836$            6,069$            6,312$            62,259$          75,747$          

M12 Utility Operations Manager 4,941$            5,139$            5,344$            5,558$            5,780$            6,012$            59,294$          72,140$          

M10 Library Manager 4,482$            4,661$            4,848$            5,041$            5,243$            5,453$            53,781$          65,433$          

M10 Assistant Finance Director 4,482$            4,661$            4,848$            5,041$            5,243$            5,453$            53,781$          65,433$          

M10 Administrative Programs Manager 4,482$            4,661$            4,848$            5,041$            5,243$            5,453$            53,781$          65,433$          

M10 Associate Planner 4,482$            4,661$            4,848$            5,041$            5,243$            5,453$            53,781$          65,433$          

M9 Building Official* 4,268$            4,439$            4,617$            4,801$            4,993$            5,193$            51,220$          62,317$          

M8 Assistant to the City Manager 4,065$            4,228$            4,397$            4,573$            4,756$            4,946$            48,781$          59,350$          

M8 Airport Operations Superintendent 4,065$            4,228$            4,397$            4,573$            4,756$            4,946$            48,781$          59,350$          

M8 Park Superintendent 4,065$            4,228$            4,397$            4,573$            4,756$            4,946$            48,781$          59,350$          

M7 Senior Engineering Tech 3,872$            4,026$            4,187$            4,355$            4,529$            4,710$            46,458$          56,524$          

M7 Senior Engineering Tech 3,872$            4,026$            4,187$            4,355$            4,529$            4,710$            46,458$          56,524$          

M7 Executive Assistant/Records Supervisor 3,872$            4,026$            4,187$            4,355$            4,529$            4,710$            46,458$          56,524$          

M5 Abatement Officer* 3,512$            3,652$            3,798$            3,950$            4,108$            4,272$            42,139$          51,269$          

M5 Executive/Legal Assistant 3,512$            3,652$            3,798$            3,950$            4,108$            4,272$            42,139$          51,269$          

M4 Planning Assistant 3,344$            3,478$            3,617$            3,762$            3,912$            4,069$            40,133$          48,827$          

M4 Project Coordinator (CD/Eng) 3,344$            3,478$            3,617$            3,762$            3,912$            4,069$            40,133$          48,827$          

M2 Engineering Tech 3,033$            3,155$            3,281$            3,412$            3,549$            3,691$            36,401$          44,288$          

*Part-time Position Hourly Stipends Authorized Monthly

Abatement Officer (PT) 26.34$            Civil Service Secretary 200.00$          

Building Official (PT) 32.47$            Safety Committee Secretary 150.00$          

N/A



Appendix "D"

Non-Represented Employee Classifications
2016

Range Position Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Annual Lo Annual Hi

Unclassified City Manager

M20 Police Chief 7,300$             7,592$             7,896$             8,212$             8,540$             8,882$             87,604$          106,584$        

M19 Director of Public Works 6,953$             7,231$             7,520$             7,821$             8,134$             8,459$             83,433$          101,509$        

M19 Finance Dir - City Clerk 6,953$             7,231$             7,520$             7,821$             8,134$             8,459$             83,433$          101,509$        

M19 Comm Dev Dir - City Engineer 6,953$             7,231$             7,520$             7,821$             8,134$             8,459$             83,433$          101,509$        

M18 Police Captain 6,622$             6,887$             7,162$             7,448$             7,746$             8,056$             79,460$          96,675$          

M16 Public Works Superintendent 6,006$             6,246$             6,496$             6,756$             7,026$             7,307$             72,072$          87,687$          

M16 Senior Engineer 6,006$             6,246$             6,496$             6,756$             7,026$             7,307$             72,072$          87,687$          

M14 Civil Engineer 5,448$             5,666$             5,892$             6,128$             6,373$             6,628$             65,372$          79,535$          

M13 Planning Manager 5,188$             5,396$             5,612$             5,836$             6,069$             6,312$             62,259$          75,747$          

M12 Utility Operations Manager 4,941$             5,139$             5,344$             5,558$             5,780$             6,012$             59,294$          72,140$          

M10 Library Manager 4,482$             4,661$             4,848$             5,041$             5,243$             5,453$             53,781$          65,433$          

M10 Assistant Finance Director 4,482$             4,661$             4,848$             5,041$             5,243$             5,453$             53,781$          65,433$          

M10 Administrative Programs Manager 4,482$             4,661$             4,848$             5,041$             5,243$             5,453$             53,781$          65,433$          

M10 Associate Planner 4,482$             4,661$             4,848$             5,041$             5,243$             5,453$             53,781$          65,433$          

M9 Building Official* 4,268$             4,439$             4,617$             4,801$             4,993$             5,193$             51,220$          62,317$          

M8 Assistant to the City Manager 4,065$             4,228$             4,397$             4,573$             4,756$             4,946$             48,781$          59,350$          

M8 Airport Operations Superintendent 4,065$             4,228$             4,397$             4,573$             4,756$             4,946$             48,781$          59,350$          

M8 Park Superintendent 4,065$             4,228$             4,397$             4,573$             4,756$             4,946$             48,781$          59,350$          

M7 Senior Engineering Tech 3,872$             4,026$             4,187$             4,355$             4,529$             4,710$             46,458$          56,524$          

M7 Senior Engineering Tech 3,872$             4,026$             4,187$             4,355$             4,529$             4,710$             46,458$          56,524$          

M7 Executive Assistant/Records Supervisor 3,872$             4,026$             4,187$             4,355$             4,529$             4,710$             46,458$          56,524$          

M5 Abatement Officer* 3,512$             3,652$             3,798$             3,950$             4,108$             4,272$             42,139$          51,269$          

M5 Executive/Legal Assistant 3,512$             3,652$             3,798$             3,950$             4,108$             4,272$             42,139$          51,269$          

M4 Planning Assistant 3,344$             3,478$             3,617$             3,762$             3,912$             4,069$             40,133$          48,827$          

M3 Project Coordinator (Engineering) 3,185$             3,313$             3,445$             3,583$             3,726$             3,875$             38,221$          46,502$          

M2 Engineering Tech 3,033$             3,155$             3,281$             3,412$             3,549$             3,691$             36,401$          44,288$          

*Part-time Position Hourly Stipends Authorized Monthly

Abatement Officer (PT) 26.34$             Civil Service Secretary 200.00$           

Building Official (PT) 32.47$             Safety Committee Secretary 150.00$           

Transition Floor
For 2014, employees currently at the top of their classification range
transitioning into a new range that contains a top step with a lower
level of compensation shall continue to be compensated at their higher
monthly base salary from 2013.

N/A



Employee Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 Update  Jan 5, 2016 

City of Kelso Employee Handbook 

 
6.13 Substance Abuse Policy 

A. Purpose 
Substance abuse raises serious concerns regarding employee health and public safety. Because of these 
concerns, the federal government has passed protective laws that establish drug and alcohol testing 
requirements for certain employees and call for employers to ensure a substance-free workplace. The 
City of Kelso is committed to providing such a work environment. To achieve this goal, the City has 
established this Substance Abuse Policy. 

B. Policy 
Employees, including directors, supervisors and administrators, are required to report for work in 
appropriate mental and physical condition.  The purpose of this policy is to enforce the City of Kelso's 
commitment to prevent substance abuse because it affects job performance and the safety of our 
employees and customers. Accordingly, use, possession or working under the influence of any 
substance that can adversely affect alertness, coordination, decision-making, safety, or job 
performance will not be tolerated. Employees must, as a condition of employment, abide by the terms 
of this policy. Violations will result in corrective action, up to and including termination of employment, 
and may also have legal consequences. 

 
This Policy applies to all individuals employed by the City, unless a provision of the policy conflicts with a 
contract or statute (e.g., Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA), Civil Service Rule, or Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU)). 

All existing employees and new hires will be trained on this policy. Each employee will acknowledge his/her 
knowledge of this policy and training by signing an acknowledgement receipt. This receipt will be maintained 
in the employees personnel file. 

C. Prohibited Conduct 
 

The City is concerned about the adverse effect alcohol and drug abuse may have on safety and job 
performance. The City recognizes drug and alcohol abuse as treatable illnesses and affirms a commitment to 
respond to these illnesses through referral to treatment and rehabilitation, when brought to the City’s 
attention before conduct occurs that may give rise to disciplinary actione. However, the City affirms its policy 
that the following are strictly prohibited: 

a. Reporting to work under the influence of alcohol, prohibited drugs or controlled substances. 
1. Indicated by a positive test for controlled substances, or 
2. Breath alcohol test resulting in an alcohol level of .02 or higher, or 
3. Observed evidence of impairment. 

b. The unlawful use, possession, manufacturing, distribution, dispensing, transfer or trafficking of alcohol or 
prohibited substances. 

c. The use, in any way, of City property, or the employee's position within the City, to make or 
traffic in alcohol or prohibited substances. 

Any employee found in violation of the above stated prohibitions will be subject to disciplinary action up 
to and including termination. 



Employee Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 Update  Jan 5, 2016 

D. Prohibited Substances. 
 
a. Alcohol 
b. Substances regulated by the criminal law, including but not limited to narcotics, depressants, 

stimulants, hallucinogens, and cannabis,  controlled substances defined in RCW 69.50.101.  
MARIJUANA:  The City does not allow employees to use, distribute, possess, or report to work 
under the influence of marijuana, even if the employee may lawfully use marijuana for 
recreational purposes under Washington State law, and /or is qualified and has a 
recommendation from a physician to use marijuana for medical reasons as outlined in Chapter 
69.51 RCW. 

c. Substances which are available as prescribed medications but for which the employee does not 
have a prescription or is using in violation of a prescription. 

d. Any other use, possession or trafficking of alcohol or illegal drugs in a manner which is 
detrimental to the interest of the City, creates a safety concern, or unduly interferes with job 
performance. 
 

 
E. Prescription and Over-the-Counter Medications 

 
Employees who are taking prescription medications (e.g.: narcotics, benzodiazepines, barbiturates, 
amphetamines, etc.) or over the counter medications  that may impact their alertness, perception, judgment, or 
ability to safely operate vehicles or equipment must disclose the matter to their supervisor and may be required 
to provide their physician's release to work while using the medication.. 
 
The City reserves the right to request a second opinion, at its expense, from a qualified physician if the 
City reasonably concludes that the employee’s physician has not fully and competently addressed the 
issue of the impact of the use of the prescription drugs on performance and safety. 

 

F. Identifying and Handling Employees with Substance Abuse Problems  

1. Possession 

Any on-duty employee possessing prohibited substances will be directed to hand over the suspected 
substance. Whenever possible, another member of management or a representative of a collective 
bargaining unit who has completed the 60 minute training course will be present as a witness. 

Refusal on the part of an employee to comply with a directive constitutes insubordination and is 
grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 

Any confiscated material will be carefully preserved in an appropriate container in the presence of another 
witness (preferably a management representative), sealed and marked by describing the contents (e.g., "green 
vegetable matter," "white powder," "clear liquid," etc.), and noting the date, time, and source of the material. 
The supervisor will sign the container label or place the container in an envelope, and then sign and seal the 
envelope. The evidence is to be stored in a place inaccessible to others (i.e., a locked desk drawer) in order to 
maintain the proper "chain of custody" necessary to support investigative, disciplinary, and/or legal action. 



Employee Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 Update  Jan 5, 2016 

The City Manager or designee will be notified immediately whenever suspected substances are 
confiscated. A decision will be made as to whether the substance should be analyzed by a competent 
laboratory and/or turned over to law enforcement authorities. 

2. On-the-Job Use 

Subject to the provisions of Section D.3, employees are prohibited from consuming prohibited 
substances while at the work place or while performing any work-related activities. Any 
employee who has violated this prohibition, will be removed from the work place for at least 
twelve (12) hours, is subject to drug/alcohol testing, and possible disciplinary action. 

3. Pre-Shift or On-Call Use of Alcohol 

The consumption of prohibited substances is prohibited for all employees while they are receiving 
stand-by pay. 
 

G. Substance Testing Guidelines 
 

The City's Substance Abuse Policy applies to all applicants and current employees, except as otherwise noted in 
these policies. 
 

1. Pre-Placement Testing 

All applicants for a safety sensitive position (e.g, police, CDL holders) who have received a conditional offer of 
employment must pass a drug test to receive a final offer. Each applicant must provide a signed consent form 
with his/her signed application for employment. (A sample form is attached as Appendix A.) The applicant 
must then provide a urine specimen at a site designated by the City. The specimen will be sent to a laboratory 
designated by the City for testing. The pre-employment drug screen will be paid for by the City. 

The drugs that will be tested for are: Amphetamines (including methamphetamine, speed, crank, and 
ecstasy); THC (cannibinoids, marijuana, hashish); Cocaine; Opiates (heroin, morphine, codeine, opium); and 
Phencyclidine (PCP). The drug test will be administered after the conditional offer for employment is made 
and before the first day an employee reports to work. Notice will be given to the candidate to report for the 
test and the test will be administered in sufficient time to allow results prior to initial reporting to duty. The 
offer of employment is contingent upon passing this drug test. 

Those applicants who do not successfully pass the drug test shall be ineligible for hire for at least (6) 
months. 

2. Post-Accident Testing 

When a City employee becomes involved in an accident or incident affecting persons or property while 
performing business or work for the City, a City management representative will determine whether or not an 
alcohol and/or drug test is appropriate. Typically, the following circumstances will require testing: 

a. After an incident when there has been damage to the City's or citizen's property;  
b. After any accident resulting in an OSHA recordable injury, or a near-miss that could have resulted in a 
serious injury or death; 
c. After any accident involving injuries requiring only first aid, where there is a reasonable suspicion that a 
drug and/or alcohol test is appropriate; 



Employee Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 Update  Jan 5, 2016 

d. After any accident involving vehicles regulated by the Department of Transportation (DOT); or 
e. Testing as required by the Department of Transportation (DOT). An employee may choose to be tested 
for self-protection at city expense after an accident. 

3. Reasonable Suspicion Testing 

An employee who is reasonably suspected of being under the influence will be tested when requested by a 
supervisor or manager and when the suspicion is substantiated by another supervisor or manager. The 
following procedures apply to reasonable suspicion testing. Reasonable suspicion must be based on 
observable evidence, including, but not limited to the following: 

• Observed alcohol or drug use during work hours or on City premises; 
• Apparent physical state of impairment, as indicated by odor of alcohol, slurred speech, staggering 

walk, etc.; 
• Incoherent mental state; 
• Marked changes in personal behavior and/or deteriorating work performance that is not resolved 

through usual corrective action; or 
• Accidents, motor vehicle offenses, fights, assaults, and flagrant violations of established safety, 

security, or other operating procedures during work hours, while on City premises, or when 
otherwise representing the City. 

When an employee is asked to submit to drug and alcohol testing he/she will be informed of the reasons for 
testing and will be informed that refusal constitutes insubordination and is grounds for disciplinary action, up 
to and including termination of employment. If the employee is a member of a bargaining unit and the 
employee so requests, reasonable efforts will be made to have the union representative present, if it will not 
cause unreasonable delay. An employee who challenges the decision to require testing should be told that 
he/she must submit to testing now and may file a grievance later. If the employee refuses to take the test, 
he/she will be relieved of duty without pay to await disciplinary proceedings. Testing methodology will follow 
the same guidelines as any other cause for substance testing. 

Each supervisor who observes evidence suggesting that a substance test is necessary will write a separate 
report of the incident. This report will include a description of the employee's observed condition, any 
statements made, and any actions taken by and persons involved in the incident. In all circumstances of 
suspected drug or alcohol use, appropriate transportation will be provided for the employee. If the 
employee refuses to accept transportation and attempts to drive, the proper authorities may be notified. 

4. Random Testing - CDL Holders 
Random testing for controlled substance and alcohol use will be conducted in compliance with Federal 
regulations on any employee of the City required to possess a Commercial Driver's License (CDL) to operate a 
covered vehicle in the performance of the job duties.  The selection process for random testing will be through a 
scientifically valid method. Procedures for random testing, including timing, frequency, number of employees to 
be tested, selection of employees to be tested, and test sites will be determined by the City. All employees in the 
relevant pool of persons subject to random testing will have an equal chance of being selected in each random 
test conducted. 
 
The Department of Transportation's Drug and Alcohol Testing Regulation —49 CFR Part 40, at 40.151(e) does 
not authorize "medical marijuana" under a state law to be a valid medical explanation for a covered employee's 
positive drug test result. Accordingly, an employee testing positive for THC/marijuana under these policies may 
be subject to discipline even if he/she has an authorized medical prescription for the use of marijuana. 



Employee Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 Update  Jan 5, 2016 

 
H. Drug Testing Methodology 
 

Drug testing will be conducted by an appropriately certified lab. Testing may be conducted for any or all of the 
following drugs or their metabolites: 

Amphetamines Cannabinoids Alcohol Barbiturate 
Methamphetamines Opiates Phencyclidine Methadone 
Benzodiazepines Propoxyphene Methaqualone Cocaine 

Initial screening of urine samples will be performed by immunoassay. All DOT regulated employee samples 
that are positive on initial screen will be confirmed by a NIDA-certified laboratory by gas 
chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS). The testing facility will report all results directly to the City's 
Medical Review Officer (MRO) — a licensed physician with knowledge of substance abuse disorders. A final 
review of test results will be made by the designated MRO. This review will provide an opportunity for 
employees to discuss positive test results. The MRO will review any available medical records to determine if a 
confirmed positive test resulted from something other than prohibited use. If the MRO is unable to reach the 
employee directly, after using all reasonable efforts, the MRO will contact the City's designated authorized 
representative. The City's authorized representative will ask the employee to contact the MRO. If the 
employee fails to present information affecting the result of the drug test, or if the employee refuses to speak 
with the MRO, the MRO will verify a positive test result, in accordance with ACOEM/CFR Part 40 (MRO 
Guidelines), and will report this to the City's authorized representative. 
 

I.  Employee’s Request to Retest 
 

The MRO will inform the employee at the time the test result is verified that he/she may request a sample 
of the original specimen be provided to the original or another equally certified/accredited laboratory for 
re-testing. If an employee wishes the sample to be re-tested, he/she must confirm the request within 72 
hours of notification by the MRO. The employee will be responsible for all costs associated with the 
additional test. The City may require that payment for the additional test be deducted from the employee’s 
pay. 

J.  Drug Testing Procedures 
 

Because of the sensitive nature of substance testing, an employee is not to be tested, until approval is obtained 
from the City Personnel Director/Risk Manager, or designee. 

Employees must sign appropriate consent forms prior to testing. If the employee refuses, he/she will be 
informed that this will be treated as insubordination and will result in discipline, up to and including 
termination. 

1. Reasonable Suspicion and Post-Accident Testing 
If the City has determined that a drug test is necessary due to reasonable suspicion, or as defined above, 
the following steps should be taken: 

a. Direct the employee to read and sign the Consent and Release Form. (A sample form is attached 
as Appendix B.) 

b. Transport the employee to the local collection facility. If the employee refuses to accept 
transportation and attempts to drive, the authorities will be notified immediately. 



Employee Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 Update  Jan 5, 2016 

2. Random and Pre-Placement Testing 
If a random or pre-placement drug test is necessary, the following steps should be taken: 

a. Direct the employee to read and sign the Consent and Release Form. (A sample form is attached as 
Appendix B.) 

b. Notify the local collection facility that an employee will be coming to provide a urine specimen. 
 
 
 K. Alcohol Testing Procedures 
 

1. If the City has determined that alcohol testing is necessary, the following steps should be taken: 
 

a. Direct the employee to read and sign the Consent and Release From. (A sample form is 
attached as Appendix C.) 

b. Notify the designated breath-alcohol technician ("BAT") or test facility that an employee will 
be coming to take a breathalyzer test. 

c. Determine from the BAT whether the employee's alcohol concentration level prevents the 
employee from performing safety-sensitive functions (i.e., 0.02 or greater). 

 
2. If the test indicated an alcohol concentration level of between 0.02 and 0.04, the employee must 

be removed from performing safety-sensitive functions, but may be permitted to return to work 
to perform other job duties. Coordinate this step with the City Personnel Director or Risk 
Manager. 

 
3. If the test indicated an alcohol concentration level of 0.04 or greater, the employee will not be 

allowed to return to work. If the employee's alcohol concentration level is at or near the legal limit 
for driving (i.e., 0.08), he/she will not be allowed to drive, and he/she will be required to obtain 
alternative transportation — either from a friend, a family member, or a taxi at the employee's 
expense. 

 
 
 L.  Consequences of a Positive Test Result 
 

1. Disciplinary Action 
The City may take disciplinary action, up to and including termination, for employees who violate 
this policy. 

 
2. Assessment and Treatment 

An employee who tests positive for alcohol or prohibited drugs may be referred to the City's 
Employee Assistance Program for mandatory assessment as a condition of continued 
employment. An employee who tests positive will be considered unqualified to work and may not 
be permitted to return to work until he/she agrees to participate in a treatment, continuing care 
or drug/alcohol rehabilitation program as recommended by an approved substance abuse 
evaluation counselor. 

 
3. Last Chance/Return to Work Agreement 

The employee may be required to sign a Last Chance/Return to Work Agreement and successfully 
complete any program (including recommended after care) as recommended by the treatment 
professional and approved by the Substance Abuse Professional (SAP). 



Employee Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 Update  Jan 5, 2016 

 
4. Return to Work 

Upon successful completion of any required treatment program as recommended by the 
treatment professional and approved by the Substance Abuse Professional (SAP), an employee 
may be released to resume work, but must agree in writing to unannounced, random testing for 
not more than twenty-four (24) months after returning to work. A positive test under these 
conditions or at any time thereafter may result in immediate termination. 

 
 

M. Privacy and Record Keeping 
 

In all aspects of the City's drug-free workplace program, individual privacy will be maintained with the 
strictest of confidentiality. To accomplish this, the following procedures will be implemented.  Test results 
will not be released without the written authorization of the tested individual, other than to the testing 
laboratory, the MRO, the individual, the SAP and the authorized City representative, except where 
required by law (including RCW 42.56)   or subpoena to local, state or federal authorities. Written records 
regarding drug testing and/or communication with the employee regarding rehabilitation will not become 
part of the employee's personnel file but will be stored separately in a secure file.  The City will not release 
an employee's rehabilitation or test records to a subsequent employer unless the employee requests it in 
writing. 
 
 

N. Rehabilitation 
 
The City encourages employees who feel they have developed an addiction or dependence on alcohol or 
drugs to seek assistance. Requests for assistance will be confidential.  Any employee who voluntarily 
comes forward and reveals the existence of a drug or alcohol problem will be referred to the City's 
Employee Assistance Program (EAP) for evaluation and referral. The cost of any evaluation of treatment 
and rehabilitation may be covered by the employee's medical insurance. Any costs which are not covered 
by the employee's medical insurance are the responsibility of the employee. The employee will be 
expected to enter into, cooperate with, and complete such treatment as is prescribed by professionals to 
whom the employee is referred. Any employee who fails to contact, enter into, cooperate with, or 
successfully complete all segments of treatment will be subject to discipline, which may include 
termination.

 

















City of Kelso, Washington 
Statements are descriptive of the kind and level of work and not 
intended to be an exhaustive list of responsibilities, duties and 
skills required of a person in this position. 

TITLE 
Airport Operations Manager 

DEPARTMENT 
Administration 

CLASS/EXEMPT STATUS 
Exempt 

DIVISION 
SW Wa Regional Airport  

SUPERVISOR 
City Manager 

CLASSIFICATION RANGE 
M-14 

POSITION DESCRIPTION 
Under general supervision, perform, coordinate and oversee daily operations of the Southwest 
Washington Regional Airport (Airport).  Ensure operational safety and compliance with laws, regulations, 
policies and lease and contract terms.  Perform related work as assigned to administer the policies and 
direction of the SW Washington Regional Airport Board. 
 
ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS 

• Plans, organizes and coordinates on-site activities required for the safe and efficient functioning of 
the Airport. 

• Administers and assists in the preparation of Airport facility leases; enforces contract and lease 
terms related to long-term service and maintenance contractors, aircraft hangar owners and tie-
down tenants; ensures that lease payments are paid on a timely basis;  provides information to 
and processes completed forms from prospective tenants. 

• Prepares grant applications to the FAA, WSDOT for Capital Improvements related to the Airport. 
• Prepares grant applications to other agencies as applicable for Airport safety, capital 

improvements, and economic development.  
• Ensures grant requirements and assurances are monitored for compliance. 
• Provides information to the public and Airport users regarding FAA regulations and local policies 

and procedures; ensures that aircraft owners and operators comply with regulations regarding 
ground traffic, air traffic patterns, parking and other safety rules and regulations. 

• Resolves customer complaints and disputes; maintains liaison with airport users and user groups 
to promote facility use. 

• Notifies proper emergency response organizations in the event of an emergency; responds to 
emergencies and provides assistance and coordination. 

• Coordinates and works directly with applicable City staff and contractors regarding expansion and 
modification of Airport facilities. 

• Provides for necessary Airport grounds and facilities maintenance program; coordinates/ provides 
the required maintenance of vegetation control on the Airport runways, taxiways, and ramps; 
minor painting and electric bulb replacement; inspects Airport property regularly and ensures that 
grounds and facilities are kept in a clean and orderly condition. 

• Prepares periodic and special reports regarding Airport operations, activities and finances; 
maintains accurate records and files.  

• Make presentations to various agency boards and committees and other groups as assigned. 
• Keeps current in general aviation developments, including changes in laws and regulations; 

recommends modifications to policies and procedures as required. 
• Ensures fire and building code compliance and the regular inspection of facilities by proper 

authorities. 
• Prepares the annual operating budget and manages expenditures. 

 
 
 



POSITION REQUIREMENTS (Sufficient education, training and experience to demonstrate the attainment of 
the knowledge and abilities listed below): 

 
EDUCATION/EXPERIENCE 

• Any combination equivalent to: A bachelor's degree in Aviation Management, Business, Public 
Administration, or related field and a minimum of three  (3) years related aviation managerial 
experience at a public use airport. 

• Successful completion of FAA compliant Airport Layout Plan(s) and/or Airport Improvement 
Plan(s) is highly desirable. 

 
KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS, ABILITIES, AND SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
KNOWLEDGE OF: 

• Principles and practices of general aviation facility operation and maintenance. 
• Applicable laws, codes and regulations, including Federal Aviation Administration regulations 

relating to general aviation operations. 
• Principles of light aircraft operation, handling and maintenance. 
• Principles, practices and terminology related to lease and contract administration. 
• Computer applications related to the work such as Word, Excel, PowerPoint etc.  
• Business mathematics. 
• Basic practices of facilities and grounds maintenance. 
• Basic supervisory principles and practices. 

 
ABILITY TO: 

• Direct and coordinate or provide day-to-day on-site operations and maintenance at a general 
aviation facility. 

• Enforce flight and safety rules and regulations through the applicable authorities. 
• Converse with pilots or applicable ground operations on  VHF Common Traffic Advisory Frequency 

(CTAF) 
• Administer contract and lease terms effectively and resolve problems in an appropriate manner. 
• Maintain liaison with and represent the Airport in meetings with contractors, lessees, tenants and 

the flying public. 
• Maintain accurate records and files to include financial reports. 
• Prepare clear, concise and accurate correspondence, procedures and other written materials. 
• Respond effectively in emergency situations. 
• Make presentations to agencies, tenants, aviation groups and general public regarding Airport 

related issues.   
• Use basic tools safely and perform minor maintenance. 
• Use initiative and independent judgment within general policy guidelines. 
• Use tact, discretion and prudence in dealing with those contacted in the course of the work. 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of the 

work. 
• Work in an Airport office setting and outdoors in all weather conditions. 
• Supervise and coordinate the activities of any staff that is assigned, including training, scheduling, 

hiring decisions, written performance evaluations and possible disciplinary actions. 
 



• Analyze problems and develop practical solutions that may include creative ideas. 
• Review aviation related periodicals, participate in webinars, seminars, and other meetings and 

report the findings that may be practically applied to the goals and objectives of the Master Plan 
Update.   

 

 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
• Successfully pass a modified background investigation. 
• A valid driver’s license is required. 
• Appointees not possessing a valid Washington or Oregon State Driver’s License upon hire must 

obtain one within currently effective statutory time limit. 
• A pilot's license is highly desirable 
• Occasional lifting of up to 25 pounds. 

 
Contacts: 

• Contacts are varied including other City employees, private consultants, vendors, contractors, field 
crews, public officials, Federal and State Aviation agencies, airport tenants, transient pilots, 
property owners and citizens.    Contacts are for the purpose of information sharing. 

Supervision: 

• None 

Accountability: 

• Accountable for the quality, accuracy and timely completion of all assigned tasks. 
 

Working Conditions: 
 

• Must be willing to work off-hours or weekend shifts and respond to emergency situations as 
required. Works both in an office environment and in all weather conditions. 

 
 

 

PREPARED BY                    DATE 
S. Taylor                    12/3/2015 

SUPERVISOR                         DATE 
 

REVIEWED BY                      DATE 
Patty Murray           12/24/2015    

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL          DATE 
S. Taylor                               12/28/2015 

 



City of Kelso, Washington 
Statements are descriptive of the kind and level of work and not 
intended to be an exhaustive list of responsibilities, duties and 
skills required of a person in this position. 

TITLE 
Project Coordinator 

DEPARTMENT 
Community Development 

CLASS/EXEMPT STATUS 
Non-Exempt 

DIVISION 
Engineering 

SUPERVISOR 
CD Director/City Engineer 

CLASSIFICATION RANGE 
M-4 

POSITION DESCRIPTION 
Under general direction, positions at this level perform project management coordinator functions in support of 
capital improvements for the City.  This position helps manage design and construction contracts; assists in 
coordinating projects with other City staff, outside agencies, stakeholders, contractors, and consultants; provides 
support for other City projects; serves as technical resource for department personnel; and helps develop and 
manage project budgets.  This position operates with minimal supervision or oversight of Community Development 
Director/City Engineer. 
 
ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS 

• Coordinate and schedule team, consultant, and contractor meetings. 
• Set agenda, attend project meetings, and report out on action items, decisions, and schedules. 
• Respond to calls from consultants, sub-consultants, vendors, suppliers, and citizens on City projects. 
• Research and prepare Environmental reports on City projects. 
• Research and draft grant applications for City projects. 
• Research and draft permit applications for City projects. 
• Monitor financial and regulatory requirements of grants received by the City 
• Prepare and assist City Engineer with responses to stakeholders and entities with oversight responsibilities. 
• Review consultant invoices to ensure compliance and resolve discrepancies prior to City Engineer approval. 
• Assist with contractor changes or change orders during construction on projects. 
• Maintain City eligibility for the MRSC small works and consultant rosters. 
• Assist City Engineer with preparation of project schedules and budget breakdowns for presentation to 

stakeholders. 
• Manage and assist in the timely preparation of Council agenda item submissions including review routing 

and documentation. 
• Create, maintain, and revise various department web pages. Assist in the maintenance of the City’s 

Facebook page. 
• Manage department timesheets, leave forms, leave calendar, and resulting appropriation transfers. 
• Prepare department billings and track expenses. Maintain operating budget tracking spreadsheet. 
• Assist in the development and implementation of Department wide policies and procedures 
• Punctual, regular and reliable attendance is essential for successful job performance. 

POSITION REQUIREMENTS (Sufficient education, training and experience to demonstrate the attainment of the knowledge and 
abilities listed below): 

 
EDUCATION/EXPERIENCE 

• High School Graduation or G.E.D. equivalent  
• Graduation from a community college or vocational school preferred. 
• Three years of experience providing support to the management of facility, construction and/or capital 

improvement projects in a private or government agency environment.  
 
 



• Any combination of related education and experience may be considered that demonstrates the 
knowledge, skill, and ability to perform the essential duties and responsibilities. 

KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS, ABILITIES & SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 

• Thorough knowledge of regulations, laws, ordinances, codes, and standards applicable to public building 
projects. 

• Working knowledge of engineering and architectural design principles, practices, and procedures. 
• Knowledge of construction site safety codes and standards. 
• Knowledge of principles and practices of project management. 
• Knowledge of project budget management and scheduling. 
• Knowledge of building and construction trades. 
• Knowledge of architectural and engineering design. 
• Skills in managing, organizing, and tracking simultaneous projects. 
• Skills in coordinating, monitoring, and evaluating contracts. 
• Skills in updating, researching, and retrieving information within network databases. 
• Ability to work independently. 
• Ability to keep supervisors and other shareholders informed and updated on project status. 
• Ability to work within difficult and sometimes inflexible deadlines. 
• Ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with customers, contractors, consultants, 

other City employees, and the general public. 
• Ability to manage contracts. 
• Ability to communicate technical information, both verbally and in writing, in a clear and concise manner to 

audiences of varying degrees of subject familiarity. 

SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 

• Successfully pass a modified background investigation. 
• A valid driver’s license is required. 
• Appointees not possessing a valid Washington or Oregon State Driver’s License upon hire must obtain one 

within currently effective statutory time limit. 
• Occasional lifting of up to 25 pounds. 
• Possession of Notary Public highly desirable. 

Contacts: 

• The Project Coordinator position has regular contact with a variety of contractors, consultants, engineers, 
architects, citizens, and County and State regulatory departments.  

• Additionally, the Project Coordinator has frequent contact with other City departments, staff, and tenants 
located at all assigned buildings. Contact with these parties is primarily for problem identification, 
information sharing, and work coordination. 

• Diplomacy, professionalism, and strong communication skills are required.  
• Skill in gaining compliance with standards and regulations while maintaining a cooperative working 

relationship is required. 

Supervision: 

• This position has no supervisory duties but may coordinate with and direct support staff to ensure 
completion of project tasks. 



Accountability: 

• Project Coordinator is accountable for the efficient, effective completion of assigned tasks, and ensuring all 
assigned design, construction, repair, and maintenance projects performed on or in City buildings and 
infrastructure are performed safely and in compliance with City standards.  

• Independent judgment is exercised in scheduling and coordinating activities between various parties, 
planning and developing projects, and negotiating schedules.  Independently resolves most problems. 

Working Conditions: 

• The Project Coordinator usually works in an office. 
• Projects require considerable concentration and attention to detail and are performed in an environment 

of frequent work interruptions. 
• The position is subject to the stress of meeting competing demands and strict time deadlines. 
• Mobility sufficient to attend various meetings and visit work and/or construction sites is necessary. 

 
 
 
PREPARED BY                   DATE 
M. Kardas               12/11/2015 

SUPERVISOR                         DATE 
S. Taylor                     12/29/2015 

REVIEWED BY                 DATE 
P. Murray            12/30/2015 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL               DATE 
S. Taylor                                    12/30/2015         

 


	1.  - 2016-01-05
	1.1. - 2015-10-20 TBD Special Meeting
	1.2. - 2015-12-15
	4.1. - AgSu - Jones Rd Closeout 01.5.16
	4.1.1. - Jones Rd. Final Quantities
	6.1. - Ag Sum - SWRA Management Services Interlocal Agreement 01052016
	6.1.1. - Interlocal for Airport Services SWRA adopted 12292015
	6.2. - Ag Sum - WSDOT Visitors Center Airspace Lease Agrment 01052016
	6.2.1. - AA-04-06696 City of Kelso AAG Approved
	Revised 11/2012
	RES 420

	AIRSPACE LEASE

	6.2.1.1. - ExhA of Lease Airspace
	6.2.1.2. - Exhibit B Airspace
	Exhibit B Chamber Visitor Ctr Lease 100K 2013
	Chamber Visitor Ctr Operation Agmt 2013

	6.3. - Ag Sum - Chamber Visitor Center Lease Amendment 01052016
	6.3.1. - Chamber VC lease amendment 01052016
	6.3.2. - Visitor Ctr. Lease Agreement
	6.4. - Ag Sum - Real Estate Services RFP 01052016
	6.4.1. - RealEstateServicesRFP2015
	6.4.2. - EricFuller_Response
	6.4.3. - JLScott_Response
	6.4.4. - PNWRealty_Response
	6.4.5. - RELund_Response
	6.4.6. - REMax_Response
	6.4.7. - Woodford_Response
	7.1 - AgSu - Floodplain Management code revision
	7.1.1. - Ord 2nd Read Floodplain  CLEAN 12-15-2015
	7.1.2. - Ord 2nd Read Floodplain REDLINED  12-15-205
	7.2. - Ag Sum - Pers Policy Sal Class Substance Abuse Resolution 01052016
	7.2.1. - Personnel Policy Amendment Resolution 01052016
	7.2.1.1. - 2016 Non Rep Salary Matrix Proposed Amend 01052016
	2016 Empl Classifications
	2016 Matrix

	7.2.1.2. - 2016 Non Rep Salary Matrix 11172015
	2016 Empl Classifications
	2016 Matrix

	7.2.1.3. - Emp Handbook Substance Abuse Policy 2016 update
	7.2.1.4. - Substance_Abuse_6.13_current
	7.2.1.5. - Airport Ops Mgr M14 - Classification
	7.2.1.6. - Project Coordinator M4 - Classification



